

Delft University of Technology

Dynamics of 2D material membranes

Steeneken, Peter G.; Dolleman, Robin J.; Davidoviki, Dejan; Alijani, Farbod; Van Der Zant, Herre S.J.

DOI 10.1088/2053-1583/ac152c

Publication date 2021 **Document Version** Final published version

Published in 2D Materials

Citation (APA)

Steeneken, P. G., Dolleman, R. J., Davidovikj, D., Alijani, F., & Van Der Zant, H. S. J. (2021). Dynamics of 2D material membranes. *2D Materials*, *8*(4), Article 042001. https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-1583/ac152c

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

TOPICAL REVIEW • OPEN ACCESS

Dynamics of 2D material membranes

To cite this article: Peter G Steeneken et al 2021 2D Mater. 8 042001

View the article online for updates and enhancements.





iceoxford.com

High cooling power, low vibration cryostats with fast sample turnaround times.

Range of 3K, 1.5K, 300mK and 15mK systems for 2D Materials Research.

2D Materials

CrossMark

OPEN ACCESS

RECEIVED 16 May 2021

ACCEPTED FOR PUBLICATION 15 July 2021

PUBLISHED 12 August 2021

Original Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence.

Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.



TOPICAL REVIEW

Dynamics of 2D material membranes

Peter G Steeneken^{1,2,*}, Robin J Dolleman³, Dejan Davidovikj², Farbod Alijani¹

and Herre S J van der Zant²10

- ¹ Precision and Microsystems Engineering Department, Delft University of Technology, Mekelweg 2, 2628 CD Delft, The Netherlands
- Kavli Institute of Nanoscience, Delft University of Technology, PO Box 5046, 2600 GA Delft, The Netherlands
- ³ Second institute of Physics, RWTH Aachen University, 52074 Aachen, Germany

* Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

E-mail: p.g.steeneken@tudelft.nl

Keywords: 2D material, dynamics, mechanics, graphene, NEMS

Abstract

The dynamics of suspended two-dimensional (2D) materials has received increasing attention during the last decade, yielding new techniques to study and interpret the physics that governs the motion of atomically thin layers. This has led to insights into the role of thermodynamic and nonlinear effects as well as the mechanisms that govern dissipation and stiffness in these resonators. In this review, we present the current state-of-the-art in the experimental study of the dynamics of 2D membranes. The focus will be both on the experimental measurement techniques and on the interpretation of the physical phenomena exhibited by atomically thin membranes in the linear and nonlinear regimes. We will show that resonant 2D membranes have emerged both as sensitive probes of condensed matter physics in ultrathin layers, and as sensitive elements to monitor small external forces or other changes in the environment. New directions for utilizing suspended 2D membranes for material characterization, thermal transport, and gas interactions will be discussed and we conclude by outlining the challenges and opportunities in this upcoming field.

Contents

1. Introduction	3
1.1. General equations of motion	3
2. Readout methods	4
2.1. Optical readout	5
2.2. Transconductive readout	5
2.3. Capacitive readout	6
2.4. Mixing techniques	6
2.5. Position dependent readout and mode-shapes	7
2.6. Readout calibration	7
2.7. Readout nonlinearities and other artifacts	7
3. Actuation methods	8
3.1. Electrostatic actuation	8
3.2. Optothermal and electrothermal actuation	9
3.3. Base actuation	10
3.4. Parametric actuation	10
3.5. Feedback forces	10
4. Vibration in the linear regime	11
4.1. Linear dynamic motion	11
4.2. Physical parameters determining the linear dynamics	12
5. Nonlinear dynamics of 2D membranes: motion beyond the linear regime	17
5.1. Nonlinear dynamic phenomena	18
5.2. Physical origin of nonlinear effects	22
6. Physical Interactions	23
6.1. Thermodynamic and electromagnetic interactions	24
6.2. External interactions	26
6.3. Single relaxation time models	28
7. Discussion and outlook	29
Data availability statement	30
Acknowledgments	30
Appendix A	30
Appendix B	31
B.1. Membrane dynamics	31
B.2. Plate dynamics	32
B.3. Plates under tension	32
Appendix C	32
Appendix D	34
References	35

1. Introduction

The exfoliation of a single layer of graphite [1], and the demonstration of the unique properties of graphene [1-4], marked the start of an era where atomically thin crystalline materials can be studied and used for next generation devices [5-10]. Soon afterwards, this also led to the first mechanically movable structures of one atom thick graphene, which were shown to operate at high resonance frequencies in the MHz range [11]. Since then, the research field, focusing on the study of the dynamics of atomically thin membranes, has grown steadily. Many different 2D materials have been explored [12, 13], the control over their mechanical actuation and detection has increased [14-17] and the understanding of the link between high-frequency mechanics, material properties and physical interactions has improved [18-23].

The atomic thickness and high aspect-ratio of suspended membranes of 2D materials result in large differences between their mechanical response in the inplane and out-of-plane directions. They are extremely flexible out-of-plane as a consequence of their small thickness, yet very stiff within the plane due to their high Young's modulus [24]. The ultra-thin nature of 2D membranes thus brings unique mechanical features that are not easily attainable in their macroscopic counterparts. First of all, their flexibility results in low and tunable stiffness, making them highly sensitive to forces [25]. As a result, already at low actuation forces, the nonlinear regime is reached [12, 26]. This makes 2D material membranes excellent probes for studying a variety of nonlinear dynamic effects, including mode-coupling [27-30], high resonancefrequency-tunability [14, 31], parametric [32, 33] and internal resonances [34, 35]. Second, their mass is extremely small, which increases resonance frequencies yielding high sensitivity in sensing applications [10, 23, 36-38]. Third, their high surfaceto-volume-ratio makes them very sensitive to their environment. For example, their membrane dynamics is highly responsive to gases in the environment [23, 39, 40] and to thermal fluctuations [38]. Finally, the large stiffness difference between the in-plane and out-of-plane directions, results in unique properties via out-of-plane wrinkles and ripples [41-44] and nonequilibrium thermodynamics of flexural and inplane phonons [45]. This interplay between thermal properties and out-of-plane mechanical motion is particularly strong, such that at room temperature the thermal 'Brownian' forces in the undriven regime lead to significant motion amplitudes of the order of the thickness [46]. Figure 1(a) illustrates the different regimes of motion for a circular graphene drum, highlighting the increasing importance of Brownian and nonlinear dynamics when scaling down membrane radius. In fact, it shows that for graphene membrane radii below R = 50 nm, the linear regime disappears, and thermal fluctuations at

room temperature drive the membrane motion into the nonlinear regime as discussed in appendix A.

In this review we will discuss and describe, from an experimental point of view, the progress that has been made in the study of the physics and dynamics of 2D material resonators, with a particular emphasis on graphene as a model system. We will provide insight into both the underlying concepts and the measurement techniques, which build on know-how from the fields of micro and nanoelectromechanical systems (MEMS and NEMS) [47, 48], and which are crucial for detecting motion at high-frequencies and small displacements down to the picometer regime. We will not focus on motion in the quantum regime [49], Raman phonon excitations at THz frequencies [50], static mechanical properties [51, 52] of 2D materials nor on applications [10, 53], for which we refer the reader to the provided references. The review aims both at giving an introduction to new researchers in the field, providing them with relevant information and references on common methodologies, as well as providing an overview for experts active in this emerging field, by including recent developments and new research directions.

To understand the dynamics of 2D membranes, we start in section 1.1 by introducing the equations of motion as central reference for describing the forces and motion. Then in the subsequent sections, techniques for detecting the motion of 2D membranes are discussed (section 2), and the different types of actuation methods for driving the membranes in motion are summarized (section 3). Next, the solutions of the equation of motion are outlined, in both the linear and the nonlinear regime (sections 4 and 5.1). For each of these regimes the types of solutions that can occur are discussed, followed by a subsection where the different terms in the equation of motion are related to the underlying physics, both from a theoretical and an experimental point of view. We continue with outlining the emerging research direction that uses the link between dynamics and physics of 2D materials to quantify physical and material related parameters (sections 4.2 and 5.2). In section 6 this concept—linking dynamics to underlying physics—is taken a step further. It deals with the use of dynamics of 2D resonators for the study of respectively electromagnetic order, external forces, gas flows and thermodynamics. Finally, we discuss and conclude with some open research questions and future directions in this exciting field.

1.1. General equations of motion

The dynamics of 2D material membranes is governed by their equations of motion (EOM). In general, the motion of a flat ultrathin membrane (figure 1(b)) can be described by a time-dependent displacement vector field $\mathbf{r}(x, y, t)$, where for small-amplitude out-ofplane motion, the in-plane motion can be neglected so that only the out-of-plane displacement function



Figure 1. (a) Schematic indicating ranges of dynamic motion exhibited by circular graphene membranes of different radii *R* at room temperature. The *x*-axis indicates the membrane's maximum out-of-plane amplitude of the fundamental resonance mode. Large membranes with a radius of 100 μ m exhibit linear motion over a large range of out-of-plane amplitudes. When the membrane radius reduces to 2.5 μ m, the linear region shrinks and the membrane exhibits nonlinear response at amplitudes of less than 10 nm. For very small membranes with *R* < 50 nm, the linear regime disappears completely, and the Brownian thermal forces will drive the drum into the nonlinear regime. Details of the determination of the ranges can be found in appendix A. (b) Schematic of a circular graphene membrane resonating in its fundamental mode with center displacement *q*(*t*). The cross section in the top panel indicates the thickness *h*, membrane radius *R* and gap distance *g*. The bottom panel shows the suspended part of the graphene in a top view sketch. (c) Scanning electron microscope image of a circular single-layer graphene resonator. Reproduced from [33]. CC BY 4.0.

w(x, y, t) in the z-direction is of importance. The motion can be expanded in terms of the linear eigenmodes $\phi_i(x, y)$ of the membrane w(x, y, t) = $\sum_{i}^{N} q_{i}(t)\phi_{i}(x,y)$, where $q_{i}(t)$ are defined as the N time dependent generalized coordinates and *i* is the mode number as can be derived from classical mechanics [54, 55]. We will choose to normalize the eigenmodes $\phi_i(x, y)$ to have a maximum absolute value of 1, such that $q_i(t)$ represents the maximum deflection of mode *i*. In the linear free vibration case, the motion has a sinusoidal time dependence, that is $q_i(t) = \Re (q_{i,0}e^{i\omega_i t})$, where ω_i is the mode's angular eigenfrequency and $|q_{i,0}|$ the amplitude. The total motion of the membrane is therefore a superposition of the different eigenmodes, where the generalized coordinates $q_i(t)$ describe the motion of the points of maximum deflection for each of the modes. For convenience we order the coefficients i on ascending eigenfrequency, such that i = 1 corresponds to the fundamental mode of the membrane.

This eigenmode decomposition allows obtaining a set of *N* coupled EOMs, in terms of the *N* generalized coordinates q_i as follows [56]:

$$m_{1}\ddot{q_{1}} + c_{1}\dot{q_{1}} + k_{1}q_{1} + F_{\text{nl},1}(q_{j},\dot{q_{j}},...)$$

$$= F_{\text{ext},1}(q_{j},\dot{q_{j}},...,t) - k_{\text{p},1}(t)q_{1},$$

$$...$$

$$m_{i}\ddot{q_{i}} + c_{i}\dot{q_{i}} + k_{i}q_{i} + F_{\text{nl},i}(q_{j},\dot{q_{j}},...)$$

$$= F_{\text{ext},i}(q_{j},\dot{q_{j}},...,t) - k_{\text{p},i}(t)q_{i},$$
for all $i, j = 1...N.$ (1)

In these equations, the terms m_i , c_i and k_i describe the mode-dependent linear modal mass, damping coefficient and linear stiffness, respectively. All nonlinear membrane forces that are intrinsic to the membrane itself, e.g. due to material and geometric nonlinearities, are described by the term $F_{nl,i}$. On the right side of the EOM there is the external forcing term $F_{\text{ext,i}}(q_i, \dot{q}_i, t)$, which captures the externally applied forces on the membrane, that can depend on time, position and membrane speed, and which can, as we will see later on, also introduce nonlinear effects. Finally there are the parametric terms $k_{p,i}(t)q_i$, which might be also categorized as part of $F_{\text{ext,i}}$, but are specified separately to emphasize their significance. We emphasize that equation (1) is constructed such that all force terms that are intrinsic to the mechanical resonator itself are on the left side of the equal sign and all other terms are on the right side, even though this separation is not always easily made, for instance when the material properties or membrane tension are modulated externally. Each of the following sections will focus on specific terms in these equations of motion, discussing both their physical origins and their effect on the membrane dynamics.

2. Readout methods

For studying the dynamics of 2D materials, readout methods for measuring motion w(x, y, t) and actuation methods for driving the membrane, via the terms $F_{\text{ext,i}}(t)$ and $k_{\text{p},i}(t)$ in the EOM, are essential. Due to the high frequencies, small amplitudes and small size of 2D material resonators, accurate readout is challenging. Moreover, several conventional mechanical engineering actuation and detection methods like modal hammers and accelerometers [59] are too large or invasive to apply. This has rendered contactless optical and electronic readout and actuation techniques to be most effective; notable exceptions are atomic force microscope (AFM) based detection of the dynamic motion of graphene membranes [60] and base excitation methods (section 3.3).



Figure 2. Readout methods. (a) Interferometric readout: the intensity of reflected laser light is modulated by the motion of the membrane. (b) Transconductive/piezoresistive readout: the resistance of the membrane depends on deflection. (c) Capacitive readout: the capacitance between the membrane and the gate electrode depends on membrane position. (d) Photograph of an experimental setup using interferometric readout. The sample is mounted behind a window in a vacuum chamber; the laser is focused on the sample through the objective in front. (e) Image of a graphene resonator suspended between a source (S) and drain (D) above a local gate (LG) whose motion is read out using transconductance. Reprinted with permission from [57], copyright (2018) American Chemical Society. (f) Electron microscope image of a few-layer graphene resonator suspended over a gate electrode is coupled to a microwave cavity, allowing motion detection through the capacitance. Reproduced with permission from [58], copyright (2016) American Physical Society.

In this section 2 we will discuss the most important dynamic readout and detection methods for 2D materials. These methods convert the position or velocity of the membrane into an electrical signal that is subsequently analyzed by measurement equipment such as network, lock-in and/or spectrum analyzers. Mostly, the out-of-plane motion of the membrane w(x, y, t) is measured, since the in-plane dynamic motion is usually much smaller and more difficult to detect, although techniques like Raman [61] and piezoresistive [62] readout are able to probe it. Figure 2 lists the three main readout methods for studying the dynamics of 2D material membranes that will be discussed in the following subsections: optical, transconductive and capacitive readout.

2.1. Optical readout

The first studies of the dynamics of 2D materials were performed using the interferometric technique [11] shown in figures 2(a) and (d), where a laser is reflected from the Fabry-Perot cavity formed by the semi-transparent 2D material and the underlying reflective substrate. In the presence of a reflecting substrate, a standing wave electric field intensity I(z) is obtained from the superposition of the incoming and reflected optical wave as illustrated by the red sinusoidal waves in figure 2(a). When the graphene moves through this standing wave, it absorbs light proportional to I(z) and thus modulates the reflected light beam. In addition, modulation also arises from interference between the light reflected from the graphene and from the substrate, but since the reflectivity of graphene is very low, this contribution is relatively small. The highest motion sensitivity is achieved when the membrane resides at a distance from the substrate with maximum slope in the optical field intensity $\frac{dI(z)}{dz}$, which can be calculated using

standard techniques if optical material properties and geometry are known [46, 63].

Besides this type of interferometric readout, other optical detection techniques have been developed, such as the recent demonstration of a Michelson interferometer setup [64], which has the advantage that it requires just a free-hanging membrane and not a reflective substrate behind it, and that the distance between the different paths in this Michelson set-up can be adjusted for calibration purposes. On the other hand, a drawback is that this technique is more sensitive for relative vibrations between the arms and requires more careful alignment. Furthermore, a balanced homodyne technique has been demonstrated to probe the phase fluctuations of the light reflected from a graphene membrane [30]. Laser Doppler vibrometry (LDV) has also been used for characterization of graphene membrane dynamics using optical interferometry [65-67]. Another interesting development is the use of Raman spectroscopy to determine the dynamically induced strain in the membrane, allowing one to obtain information on the in-plane strain, in addition to the out-of-plane motion [61].

2.2. Transconductive readout

Transconductive mechanical readout methods detect motion via changes in the electrical resistance or conductance of the suspended 2D material. In this section we discuss both conduction variations due to a motion-induced change in the electric gate field [68] that causes changes in carrier density, as well as straininduced changes in the resistivity via the piezoresistive material properties of the membrane. In a transconductive readout scheme, shown in figures 2(b) and (e), a constant current I_d runs through the 2D material. When the resistance of the 2D material is

displacement-dependent $R(q_i)$, and the membrane moves, the voltage across the material is modulated as $V_d = R(q_i)I_d \approx (R_0 + \frac{dR}{dq_i}q_i)I_d$. The position dependence of the resistance $\frac{dR}{dq_i}$ can be the result of the semiconducting nature of the material in a field-effect transistor geometry, where for a constant voltage V_q on a bottom gate-electrode, the motion of the membrane causes a variation of the electric field that causes a variation in the charge carrier density in the semiconducting or semi-metallic 2D membrane, thereby changing its resistance [14, 57]. A second effect that can cause the resistance to change is the piezoresistive effect. When the membrane moves out of the flat equilibrium position, its strain and lattice spacing increases, which causes the resistance of the material to change [62, 69, 70]. Piezoresistance can either be caused by strain-induced geometrical changes in the conductor, or by changes in the material's bandstructure that cause the charge carriers to move to bands with different carrier mobilities.

2.3. Capacitive readout

Another form of electrical readout is the capacitive method (figure 2(c)). In this configuration an ac current is driven through the capacitor formed by the suspended membrane and the gate electrode, yielding a time-dependent gate capacitance, $C_g(t) =$ $\int_{A} \varepsilon_0 dA/(g + w(x, y, t))$, in the parallel plate configuration $(g \ll R)$, where the capacitance is integrated over the membrane area A and ε_0 is the permittivity of vacuum. When the membrane center displacement q_i changes, this can be detected as a change in the impedance of the capacitor $Z_C = 1/(i\omega C_g(q_i)) =$ $V_{\rm ac}/I_{\rm ac}$. This change, for a 1 nm displacement of a 5 μ m diameter membrane, is [71] typically only 2 aF. Such small capacitance changes are challenging to detect at low frequencies, at which Z_C is very high, and are therefore more conveniently captured at GHz range frequencies at which impedances are lower [72], see also the example in figure 2(f).

The main advantage of capacitive readout compared to transconductive schemes is that the capacitance only depends on the membrane geometry and is to a large extent independent of the material properties or contamination on the membrane [71]; a disadvantage is that parasitic capacitances, e.g. due to electrical interconnects, are generally much larger than the membrane capacitance changes themselves and complicate accurate readout. Nevertheless, capacitive readout has been successfully applied to measure slow deflections of a single graphene drum [71], large capacitive graphene sensor arrays [73, 74] and fast capacitance changes in MEMS devices [72].

2.4. Mixing techniques

Although in some works the high-frequency electrical signals from 2D material resonators described in sections 2.2 and 2.3 have successfully been measured directly [75], this can be challenging in practice, because the high-impedance of the sample causes the motional signal to be small, whereas the parasitic cross-talk from the driving voltage is large. Distinguishing the small motional signal on the large background parasitic signal of the same frequency is difficult [76, 77]. This problem can be mitigated using down-mixing schemes that convert the signal to another frequency that is far away from the parasitic cross-talk signal. To down-mix transconductive readout signals [14, 78-80], the membrane conductance G is modulated by the motion at a frequency ω_m and a modulated bias voltage $V_{\rm sd}$ at frequency ω_c is applied between the source and drain. The resistance modulation causes the current through the sample $I = V_{sd}G$ to consist of the product of the two sinusoidal functions, which results in a low-frequency mixing term in the current at frequency $\Delta \omega = |\omega_c - \omega_m|$. In principle, $\Delta \omega$ can be arbitrarily low and the technique can even be applied in the dc domain, meaning that no high-frequency measurement equipment is needed to read out the signal [81]. Typically, values of $\Delta \omega$ are in the 0.1–10 kHz range to avoid lowfrequency noise. Several works have demonstrated this downmixing technique in 2D materials resonators [57, 82]. A potential drawback of mixing techniques is that the sideband signal may cause crosstalk and may also actuate the drum [14], in particular when $\Delta \omega < \frac{\omega_m}{2Q}$.

For capacitive radio-frequency (RF) readout of 2D membranes, a similar mixing technique can be used. Essentially, the scheme resembles techniques used in the cavity optomechanics community [83], since in both cases an electromagnetic (EM) wave is stored in an EM cavity resonance, whose EM resonance frequency $\omega_{\rm EM}$ is modulated by the motion of a mirror or capacitor plate. When an RF input signal with frequency ω_c close to $\omega_{\rm EM}$ is sent into this optical filter, it will be amplitude-modulated by the movement of the mirror at frequency ω_m , resulting in mixed output signals at $\omega_c \pm \omega_m$. For a sufficiently high electromagnetic wave intensity, the mirror will also be actuated by the radiation pressure forces of the optical field, leading to optomechanical couplings that are essential in the field of quantum optomechanics. This approach has been successfully carried out with 2D material membranes, albeit at low temperatures using zero-loss superconducting transmission lines [17, 84] and side-band resolved detection. Due to the higher losses of the transmission lines, this type of readout is difficult to apply at room temperature. Moreover, since 2D material membranes have not reached the ultrahigh mechanical and optical quality factors of optical cavities made out of materials like high-tension silicon nitride [85], they are presently less attractive to the quantum optomechanics community.

2.5. Position dependent readout and mode-shapes With a relatively localized probe, like a laser beam, the point at which the motion amplitude is measured can be laterally scanned over the drum, either by moving the spot position or the sample. By analyzing the position-dependent amplitude and phase of the membrane motion, the complete motion w(x, y, t)can be measured. By monitoring amplitude and phase of the resonance peaks as a function of position (figures 5(a) and (c)), the mode-shapes can be determined [46, 60, 86]. In case the motion consists of a superposition of eigenmodes, with multiple nonzero generalized coordinates $q_i(t)$, a projection procedure [87] can be applied to decompose the measured motion w(x, y, t) into modal participation factors [54] and generalized coordinates $q_i(t)$.

It is important to note that none of the previously described readout methods can be used to measure the membrane deflection at exactly one point. Instead, the readout signal is typically a weighed average of the deflection or speed over a certain area of the membrane. For optical readout that area is determined by the area of the optical focal spot and for transconductive or capacitive readout, this area depends on the area of the gate electrode below the membrane. The effect of averaging caused by the readout method, can be accounted for in socalled reduced order parameter models [54, 55], and can significantly affect the relative peak heights in the frequency response spectrum. In some cases, for example if half of the membrane moves up and the other half moves down, the averaged motion over the whole membrane can even add up to zero, making a mode invisible or of very small amplitude, depending on the mode-shape and the measurement or electrode position [46]. When analyzing the dynamics of 2D materials, it is therefore of importance to be aware of the position dependence of the applied readout method. Position dependent characterisation of membrane dynamics and mode-shapes can provide useful additional information on membrane characteristics and imperfections (figure 5(b)), that is hard to determine when characterising the motion at a single point or with a single electrode.

2.6. Readout calibration

Relating the output signal of the readout system to the actual amplitude of the membrane is not trivial and requires accurate calibration. In some cases calibration is of less interest, for example if the topic of study is the resonance frequency or *Q*-factor of the membrane. However, in other cases, like the study of the nonlinear dynamics, knowledge of the exact amplitude is essential. Three main methods of amplitude calibration have been discussed in literature. The first one is based on the measurement of the thermal Brownian motion of a harmonic oscillator in the undriven situation, which according to the equipartition theorem corresponds to an energy per mode of $\frac{1}{2}k_i\langle q_i^2\rangle + \frac{1}{2}m_i\langle \dot{q}_i^2\rangle = m_i\omega_i^2\langle q_i^2\rangle = k_BT$. Using this equation, the measured voltage can be converted to a displacement q_i if the temperature *T* and the effective modal mass m_i or stiffness k_i are known or can be estimated from the geometry and material parameters of the structure [46, 88]. It should be noted that such estimations can be risky, especially for monolayers, e.g. because the mass can significantly deviate from the theoretical value due to contamination or because the stiffness is affected by tension variations and wrinkles; see also sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2.

The second reported calibration method is based on fitting the resonance frequency versus gate voltage curve by a theoretical curve that has the mass-density and tension as fit parameters [14]. This method is based on the electrostatic reduction of the spring constant as discussed in sections 3.1 and 3.5, and uses a model for the electrostatic force and the expected membrane deflection to determine the deflection amplitude. The third method is based on using the optical wavelength as a measuring rod, driving the membrane to large amplitudes, and analysing the harmonics generated by the nonlinearities of the optical readout method to calibrate the motion [15]. The advantage of this method is that it does not require knowledge about the mass nor the mechanical properties of the membrane. The origin of these readout nonlinearities are discussed in the next subsection.

2.7. Readout nonlinearities and other artifacts

When driving the membranes to large amplitudes, besides mechanical nonlinearities, that will be discussed in section 5, the readout voltage response function $V_{\text{out}}(q_i)$ can also become nonlinear, such that higher harmonics are generated. When the response function is well-known, measurement of the higherharmonics can be used to correct the output signal for nonlinearities in the response function and in combination with the calibration methods discussed in the previous section, determine the time dependent position [15]. Especially when studying the nonlinear dynamics of 2D material membranes, assessing the importance of these nonlinear readout effects is important to distinguish intrinsic mechanical nonlinearities described by the equation of motion (1) from nonlinearities caused by the readout mechanism.

We conclude the section on readout by noting that for every readout method, effects of the readout on the actually measured motion should be avoided. For that reason it should be verified that variations in the laser power and electrical readout currents do not significantly affect the measured motion, via effects like membrane heating that shift the resonance frequency, or via feedback mechanisms in the actuation that will be discussed later. Also, care must be taken that spurious signals in the readout system, due to instrumentation noise or cross-talk, are minimized as much as possible to enable accurate readout.



Figure 3. Actuation mechanisms for 2D material membranes. (a) Electrostatic actuation. (b) Optothermal actuation and thermal actuation by resistive heating. (c) Base excitation by high frequency vibrations of the substrate. (d) Several mechanisms leading to parametric actuation by stiffness modulation.

3. Actuation methods

In equation (1), external actuation can either be applied directly via the term $F_{\text{ext,i}}$ or parametrically via the term $k_{\text{p,i}}$ that modulates the stiffness. Preferably, actuation should not be done by making mechanical contact to the suspended structure, since adhesion forces significantly alter the membrane shape and tension, and the mass of the contacting structure significantly alters the dynamics. Actuation mechanisms that will be discussed in this section focus therefore on contactless methods, including electrostatic actuation, thermal actuation and base excitation. Finally, we discuss the effect of feedback forces and methods to parametrically actuate 2D membranes.

3.1. Electrostatic actuation

When a voltage $V_{act}(t)$ is applied between the suspended 2D material and a gate electrode (figure 3(a)), a time and position dependent electrostatic membrane pressure is generated with this functional form:

$$P_{\rm ext}(w,t) = \frac{-\varepsilon_0 (V_{\rm act}(t) - V_{\rm off})^2}{2(g - w(x,y,t))^2}.$$
 (2)

As indicated by the minus sign in this equation, this force is always attractive towards the gate electrode with a quadratic voltage dependence. The intrinsic offset voltage V_{off} is usually zero or close to zero, but can become nonzero in the presence of work-function differences or trapped charges [89]. By adjusting the voltage V_{act} properly, the effect of this offset can be eliminated; however, if the trapped charge distribution is non-uniform, this is not fully possible [90]. In addition to trapped charge, Casimir forces can also generate a permanent downward force. For g = 100 nm, the Casimir pressure between two perfectly conducting mirrors is equal to that of the electrostatic pressure at $V_{\text{act}} - V_{\text{off}} = 0.17$ V as calculated by equation (2). Since it cannot be avoided, the Casimir force can become a factor limiting the minimum gap distance beyond which the membrane always collapses [91].

It is often desirable to eliminate nonlinear effects, i.e. to have an electrostatic actuation force that is proportional to an *ac* applied voltage V_{ac} and independent of membrane position. Therefore, ideally, the gap size g is small compared to the lateral radius of the drum ($g \ll R$) and the displacements are much smaller than the gap size ($w \ll g$) such that the denominator of equation (2) is almost constant. In that case the electric field lines are parallel to the z-axis, and the parallel-plate approximation holds for the capacitance between the 2D material and the bottom electrode. Moreover, to achieve an actuation force on the membrane at the same ac frequency ω as the driving voltage, often a sum of dc and ac voltages is used with $V_{\text{eff}}(t) = V_{\text{act}}(t) - V_{\text{off}} = V_{\text{dc}} + V_{\text{ac}} \sin \omega t$, with $V_{\rm dc} \gg V_{\rm ac}$ (see figure 3(a)). Using these approximations, quadratic terms in w and V_{ac} can be neglected and equation (2) becomes:

$$P_{\rm ext}(w,t) \approx -(V_{\rm dc}^2 + 2V_{\rm dc}V_{\rm ac}\sin\omega t)\frac{\varepsilon_0}{2g^2}(1+2\frac{w}{g}).$$
(3)

This equation implies that an electrostatic force generates a static downward force proportional to V_{dc}^2 , and a sinusoidal driving force proportional to $2V_{dc}V_{ac}$. The last term proportional to $\frac{w}{g}$ effectively acts as a negative spring constant, and thus reduces the resonance frequencies at large V_{dc}^2 ; this effect is called spring softening and is discussed in more detail in sections 3.5 and 6.2.1. Just as for readout (section 2.5), the effective modal force that drives a certain resonance mode, depends both on the electrode configuration and on the mode shape to be driven and can be calculated by a weighted integral of

the pressure of equation (3) over the actuation surface [55], which is usually the largest for the fundamental mode. Since the electrostatic energy is given by $U_{es} = \frac{1}{2}C_gV^2$, only mode shapes that significantly change C_g can be efficiently excited using electrostatic forces.

There are several additional aspects that one should consider when using this form of actuation. The first one is that since the ac voltage is applied on a high-impedance capacitor (the 2D nanodrum) and the voltage source (e.g. network analyzer) often has a 50 Ω output impedance, the ac voltage across the drum $V_{\rm ac}$ will be almost twice as large as if the source would be connected to a 50 Ω load. The second one is that the geometry, and finite thickness of the electrodes underneath the membrane (e.g. a graphene flake stamped on top of an electrode made of gold with a circular hole in it) can significantly affect [46] the electric field lines near the edge of the drum, such that they deviate from the parallel plate approximation, leading to a lower effective electrostatic force than predicted from equation (3). Thirdly, a high resistance of the membrane, in combination with cable and device capacitances to ground, can result in RCtimes that can diminish the efficiency of the actuation at high frequencies (section 6.2.1). Finally, quantum capacitance effects [92] can decrease the efficiency of capacitive readout and actuation of membranes.

3.2. Optothermal and electrothermal actuation

Due to their low heat capacitance and high thermal conductivity, suspended 2D materials can be heated very rapidly and efficiently, either by absorbing optical power [11], by resistive electrical Joule heating of the membrane itself or via a resistive heating ring by which the membrane is suspended [93]. Although electrothermal actuation of a large graphene/polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) heterostructure membrane has been demonstrated [94], to our knowledge high-frequency electrothermal actuation of resonances by Joule heating in a freestanding single 2D material membrane has not been demonstrated. For both optothermal and electrothermal actuation, the basic principle is shown in figure 3(b). The black line in the figure is the initial state and when the 2D material membrane is heated, it thermally expands (assuming a positive thermal expansion coefficient) and moves upward to the red position; on the other hand, when it cools, it contracts and moves to the blue position. In the figure, the time-dependent heating power is provided by the blue power-modulated laser, or by the red resistive Joule heaters near the suspension points of the membrane. The cooling of the membrane occurs via heat transfer towards the substrate, surrounding gas, or by radiation. Even though the heat capacitance of the membrane is low, the temperature change will not occur instantaneously. This delay between heating power, membrane temperature T and thermal expansion can have

interesting effects on the membrane dynamics, as will be discussed in more detail in section 6.1. The linear equation of motion of a mode in the presence of an effective thermal expansion coefficient α_i , a modedependent device parameter, can be written as:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_i + k_i (q_i - \alpha_i T(t)) = 0.$$

$$\tag{4}$$

It is important to note that the initial membrane shape (represented in black in figure 3(b)) has been given an intentional offset from the flat position. The reason for this is that if the membrane would be perfectly flat, a temperature change would not result in an out-of-plane deflection. A consequence of this is that both the magnitude and the direction of the resulting out-of-plane thermal expansion forces depend on the magnitude and direction of the initial deformation. If the initial deformation is upward, the membrane will move upward upon heating, and vice-versa for downward initial deflection. Although the physical origin for these initial deformation related effects has not been clarified, potential causes could be fabrication induced wrinkles, buckling, edge-adhesion, electrostatic or Casimir forces. A large variation in the magnitude and direction of the thermal expansion force between different CVD graphene drums, made by the same fabrication procedure, was recently observed [45], suggesting that this thermal expansion force is a very sensitive function of the membrane properties and geometrical imperfections. The exact determination of the effective thermal expansion coefficient α_i is therefore complex and can only be estimated from measurements using the calibration methods discussed in section 2.6 in combination with fits or models for the linear membrane parameters.

It is usually desirable to have a force that is at the same frequency as the *ac* driving voltage $V_{\rm ac}$. However, for resistive Joule heating it is known that heating power in the membrane follows $P \propto V_{act}^2/R$, so similar to electrostatic actuation a voltage $V_{\rm act} =$ $V_{\rm dc} + V_{\rm ac} \sin \omega t$, with $V_{\rm ac} \ll V_{\rm dc}$ is used to ensure that there is a component in ΔT at frequency ω proportional to $V_{\rm ac}$. Also for linear opto-thermal modulation, to get a force of the same frequency of the driving voltage, the time-dependent laser power should be modulated on top of a *dc* background power $P_{\rm L}(t) =$ $P_{\rm dc} + P_{\rm ac} \sin \omega t$, with $P_{\rm ac} \ll P_{\rm dc}$. This modulation is usually done by running a constant dc current, $I_{\rm L}$, through a diode laser, while modulating the voltage around a certain bias point $V_{\rm L}(t) = V_{\rm dc} + V_{\rm ac} \sin \omega t$, noting that the laser's optical power is proportional to $P_{\rm L}(t) = I_{\rm L} \times V_{\rm L}(t)$. It is important to inspect the $I_{\rm L} - V_{\rm L}$ curve of the laser diode, to ensure that it is sufficiently linear to prevent nonlinear terms in the actuation force to appear. For opto-thermal actuation, it should be noted that position dependent actuation forces can emerge, because the optical field intensity and optical absorption of the standing wave formed

by the actuation laser is position dependent as discussed in section 3.4, causing feedback forces that can affect damping and resonance frequency and can even lead to self-oscillation (section 3.5).

Besides direct thermal actuation, parametric thermal actuation by tension modulation is also possible as will be discussed in section 3.4. Finally, we mention that instead of opto-thermal actuation a modulated laser can also excite the membrane by radiation pressure of light, given by the ratio of the light intensity with the speed of light, $P_{\rm rad} = I_{\rm rad}/c$. However, due to the relatively high optical absorption and low reflectivity of graphene membranes, thermal expansion forces tend to exceed radiation pressure forces. Other 2D materials might offer better opportunities for demonstrating radiation pressure actuation.

3.3. Base actuation

Base excitation is a method where a piezoelectric resonator, or other type of shaker, is mounted below the substrate to excite the substrate with the membrane sinusoidally (see figure 3(c)). Acoustic waves flow through the entire substrate and excite the resonant membrane at its edges (base). The simplest model for base excitation in the absence of damping is a mass at position q_i that is connected via a spring to a base at position $q_b(t)$ that moves in time. The equation of motion in that case is given by:

$$n_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_i + k_i (q_i - q_b) = 0.$$
 (5)

This equation can be rewritten, such that it is identical to equation (1) with an effective base excitation force $F_{\text{ext,bi}} = k_i q_b(t)$. Like for other types of excitation, the amplitude of the resonator at resonance, is a factor Q_i higher than at low frequencies, such that at resonance $|q_i| = Q_i |q_b|$. Using SiN membranes with integrated graphene membranes, base excitation was generated around 4 MHz and was indeed observed [64] to result in motion amplification by a factor Q. In another work, also off-resonant base excitation was used to move graphene with respect to the base and detected using transconductive readout [57], thus functioning as an ultrasound detector.

When using a resonant actuation element, like a piezoelectric resonator, for driving the base actuation, it is important to note that when actuating at constant voltage amplitude, both resonances of the membrane and resonances of the actuation element will be observed in the motion $q_i(t)$. Another point to note is that in equation (5) it is assumed that the mass and stiffness of the base are infinitely much larger than the mass and stiffness of the 2D membrane, such that the membrane motion does not affect the motion of the base. If this assumption does not hold anymore, the combined membrane-base systems needs to be analyzed using coupled equations of motion for base and membrane [64, 95].

3.4. Parametric actuation

Instead of direct actuation, where the force $F_{\text{ext,i}}(t)$ only depends on time, it is also possible to externally excite motion by force terms of the form $-k_{p,i}(t)q_i$, which are the product of an externally modulated time-dependent stiffness $k_{p,i}(t)$ and the membrane position $q_i(t)$. This parametric actuation term can originate from special (nonlinear) terms in the excitation force, like [96] the term proportional to $V_{\rm ac} \frac{w}{\sigma} \sin \omega t$ in equation (3), but can also be generated by physical modulation of the linear mass, damping and stiffness parameters in the equation of motion: $m_i(t)$, $c_i(t)$ or $k_i(t)$. For example, when heating a 2D membrane with a modulated laser, its tension reduces when it thermally expands, and since the stiffness is proportional to the tension, the stiffness will be modulated proportionally to the laser-induced temperature change [32, 33, 97–99]:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_i + (k_i + k_{pT,i}(T(t)))q_i = 0.$$
 (6)

The modulated stiffness can be rewritten as a parametric force term $-k_{p,i}(t)q_i$ in equation (1), with $k_{p,i}(t) = k_{pT,i}(T(t))$.

This type of tension modulation, illustrated in figure 3(d), is especially efficient in 2D materials, since their temperature can be more efficiently optothermally modulated at high frequencies than bulk materials due to their small thickness. Parametric terms in the equation of motion can result in interesting effects like parametric oscillation (also called parametric resonance) and noise squeezing or amplification as will be discussed in section 5.1.2. Finally, it should be noted that when a parametric force term is accompanied by a constant static offset q_{off} that might be caused be a static force or fabrication imperfection in the system, the parametric force term $-k_{\text{p},i}(t)(q_i(t) - q_{\text{off}})$ consists of a parametric and direct actuation force term $(k_{\text{p},i}(t)q_{\text{off}})$.

3.5. Feedback forces

In addition to the parametric terms discussed in the previous section, that depend on time and position, the actuation force $F_{\text{ext,i}}$ also contains terms that depend on the position or speed of the membrane but not on time, which are called feedback or backaction forces. These force terms can originate from an external feedback system, that e.g. measures a displacement w and accordingly applies a force $F_{\text{ext,i}}(w)$, but they can also originate from the intrinsic physics of the actuation (section 3) or physical interactions of the membrane with its environment (section 6). In its simplest form $F_{\text{ext,i}} = k_{\text{fb}}q_i + c_{\text{fb}}\dot{q}_i$, the feedback force is linearly proportional to the position and velocity of the membrane. The feedback force can be merged with the left side of equation (1), resulting in modified stiffness and damping [100] terms, $k_{\text{eff},i} = k_i - k_{\text{fb}}$ and $c_{\rm eff,i} = c_i - c_{\rm fb}$. Linear feedback terms thus provide a

route to tune the damping, stiffness and resonance frequency of the system:

$$\omega_{\rm eff,i}^2 = \omega_i^2 - \frac{k_{\rm fb}}{m_i},\tag{7}$$

$$\frac{1}{Q_{\rm eff,i}} = \frac{1}{Q_i} - \frac{c_{\rm fb}}{\omega_i m_i}.$$
(8)

By external control of the delay between force and position, the feedback force can be brought in-phase with either position or velocity [101], either enhancing or diminishing $\omega_{\text{eff},i}$ or $Q_{\text{eff},i}$, thus providing a route for tuning the resonators characteristics. For $1/Q_{\text{eff},i} < 0$ it can even result in self-sustained oscillations (section 4.1.3). Nonlinear feedback terms can result in even more complex behaviour as will be discussed in section 5.1.

4. Vibration in the linear regime

In this section, we will consider the dynamics of 2D material membranes that follows from the linear terms in the equation of motion (equation (1)) under (a) free, (b) driven and (c) feedback conditions. In the first subsection we will look at the solutions of the EOM and in the second subsection at the underlying physics that governs the values of the linear coefficients m_i , c_i and k_i , and their theoretical and experimental determination.

4.1. Linear dynamic motion

For small displacements q_i , the terms of quadratic and higher order in q_i and \dot{q}_i in equation (1) become negligible compared to the linear terms, such that the equation of motion is linear. Although the solutions of the linear equation of motion are well known and discussed in textbooks on dynamics [54], we quickly review them here for completeness, before focusing on the specific mechanisms that determine the linear dynamics of 2D materials.

4.1.1. Free vibration

When the forcing terms $F_{\text{ext,i}}(t)$ and $k_{\text{p},i}(t)$ in equation (1) are zero, the system exhibits free vibrations that are the solutions of the well-known harmonic oscillator equation:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_i + k_i q_i = 0. \tag{9}$$

If we plug in a trial solution $q_i(t) = q_{i,0}e^{\lambda_i t}$, we obtain:

$$\lambda_i^2 m_i + \lambda_i c_i + k_i = 0. \tag{10}$$

Solving this quadratic equation for λ_i , and taking the small damping approximation $c_i \ll \sqrt{4k_im_i}$ we find the underdamped solutions for λ_i :

$$\lambda_{i\pm} = -\frac{c_i}{2m_i} \pm i\sqrt{\frac{k_i}{m_i} - \frac{c_i^2}{4m_i^2}} \approx -\frac{\omega_i}{2Q_i} \pm i\omega_i, \quad (11)$$

where $\omega_i = \sqrt{k_i/m_i}$ is the (natural) resonance frequency of mode *i*, with corresponding quality factor $Q_i = \sqrt{k_i m_i}/c_i \approx |\Im(\lambda_{\pm})/(2\Re(\lambda_{\pm}))|$. The imaginary exponent represents the fast oscillatory part of the motion and the negative real exponent represents the slowly decaying envelope of the motion, which is called ringdown (see figure 4(a)). There are two solutions $q_{i\pm}(t)$ to the equation of motion, of which a superposition with suitable coefficients $q_{i,0\pm}$ satisfies the initial conditions for position and speed:

$$q_{i\pm}(t) = q_{i,0\pm} e^{\frac{-\omega_i}{2Q_i}t} e^{\pm i\omega_i t}.$$
 (12)

If the damping is increased such that $Q_i < 1/2$, the square-root in equation (11) changes sign, such that the system becomes overdamped.

4.1.2. Driven motion

For the linear differential equation of motion, any superposition of solutions is again a solution of the differential equation. Any periodic driving force $F_{\text{ext,i}}(t)$ can be written as a Fourier sum of sinusoidal functions, so if we find the solution for a sinusoidal driving force with complex amplitude $F_{\text{ext,i}}(\omega)$ and frequency ω , we can construct the solution for any waveform, and $F_{\text{ext,i}}(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of $\sqrt{2\pi}F_{\text{ext,i}}(t)$. For the linear driven case, equation (1) reads:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_i + k_i q_i = F_{\text{ext},i}(\omega) e^{i\omega t}.$$
 (13)

The steady-state solutions are of the form $q_i(t) = q_i(\omega)e^{i\omega t}$, and the frequency response function FRF(ω) equals $q_i(\omega)/F_{\text{ext,i}}(\omega) = (-\omega^2 m_i + i\omega c_i + k_i)^{-1}$. Its magnitude |FRF(ω)|, which is also called its compliance, is displayed in figures 5(c) and 9(a), and obeys the equation:

$$\left|\frac{q_i(\omega)}{F_{\text{ext},i}(\omega)}\right| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(k_i - m_i\omega^2)^2 + (c_i\omega)^2}}.$$
 (14)

A peak in the magnitude is found when the membrane is driven at its resonance frequency $(\omega = \omega_i)$; the full-width-half-maximum (FWHM) of the peak in $|\text{FRF}(\omega)|^2$ is $\Delta \omega_{\text{FWHM}} = \omega_i/Q_i$ (in the small damping limit) and defines the linewidth $\Gamma = \Delta \omega_{\text{FWHM}}/(2\pi)$. The phase angle, by which the motion lags behind with respect to the driving force, is $\phi_i(\omega) = \arctan\left(\frac{-\Im(\text{FRF})}{\Re(\text{FRF})}\right)$. Near the resonance frequency, it changes abruptly from zero to π , and equals $\phi_i = \pi/2$ at resonance. Note that the lineshape of FRF(ω) is not exactly identical to a Lorentzian. An example of a measured resonance peak is shown in figure 4(b).

When measuring the response of a membrane as a function of driving frequency, one can find multiple peaks at different frequencies ω_i , of which the fundamental mode typically shows the largest amplitude, because the quality factor and the weighting integrals



Figure 4. Linear vibration measured on a five layer MoS_2 drum; the motion is actuated opto-thermally and read out using Fabry–Perot interferometry. (a) Free vibration: measurement of the amplitude as a function of time after the optical drive is switched off at $t = 150 \ \mu s$. The decay of the amplitude is exponential in line with equation (12). The inset shows an optical image of the drum that was measured. (b) Driven motion: amplitude and phase of the driven response. A fit to the response using equation (14) gives a resonance frequency of 7.52 MHz and a Q factor of 37.7. (c) Measured power spectrum of the undriven membrane (same as in (b)), showing a peak due to Brownian motion. A Lorentzian fit to the data results in a resonance frequency of 7.48 MHz and a Q factor of 38. Reprinted from [102], with the permission of AIP Publishing.

for actuation and readout (sections 2.5 and 3.1) tend to be largest when all points on the membrane move up and down in phase. Some of the higher modes may be degenerate, i.e. have the same resonance frequency, although in practical experiments they often split and become non-degenerate when symmetry is broken by deviations from the ideal membrane shape such as wrinkles [46].

4.1.3. Brownian motion cooling, amplification and oscillation

Even without intentionally applying an external driving force, the membrane moves due to thermal or quantum fluctuations. Although macroscopic mechanical resonators have been brought to the quantum ground state [103], this has not yet been achieved for 2D material resonators. We therefore focus here on the stochastic (random) thermal or Brownian motion forces that drive the mode, $F_{\text{ext,i}} = F_{\text{th}}$, which are sometimes called Langevin forces. They are a consequence of the thermal coupling of the resonator to the environment via for example the random collisions of molecules in the gas surrounding it, or via the phonons in the substrate that couple to the membrane at the clamping points.

These thermomechanical forces have a white (frequency independent) magnitude and random phase, such that in equation (13), $\langle |F_{\text{ext,i}}(\omega)|^2 \rangle = 4c_i k_{\text{B}}T \times$ BW, where BW is the bandwidth in Hz over which the force power spectral density (one-sided, so only integrated over positive frequencies) is integrated and where the brackets $\langle \rangle$ indicate the expected value or long-time average. T is the ambient temperature and $k_{\rm B}$ is the Boltzmann constant. The thermal fluctuations lead to an amplitude that obeys $\langle q_i^2 \rangle =$ $k_{\rm B}T/k_i$ for all resonance modes, as follows from the equipartition theorem [88] (see also appendix A). This relationship can also be used to relate the measured signal to the actual motion amplitude (amplitude calibration), provided that T and k_i are known (see also section 2.6). An example of a measured

power spectral density due to Brownian motion is shown in figure 4(c).

As mentioned in section 3.5, the damping coefficient of a mode can be affected by feedback forces. Interestingly, this effect can be used to change the effective temperature of the mode as follows: in the presence of velocity proportional feedback forces $F_{\text{ext,i}} = c_{\text{fb}} \dot{q}_i$, the effective damping coefficient of the mode is altered to a value $c_{eff} = c_i - c_{fb}$ without affecting the thermo-mechanical noise force $\langle |F_{\text{ext},i}(\omega)|^2 \rangle$ (which only depends on the intrinsic damping c_i). Thus by increasing c_{eff} the motion can be damped, reducing $\langle q_i^2 \rangle$, such that it moves stochastically as if it were in a system without feedback at a lower temperature $T_{\rm eff}$. This type of feedback can thus be used [18, 29, 101] for cooling (lowering) the effective temperature $T_{\rm eff}$ of a mode, below the ambient temperature T. Along a similar fashion, the effective damping ceff can also be reduced, increasing the effective quality factor $Q_{\text{eff}} = \frac{\sqrt{k_i m_i}}{c_{\text{eff}}}$ and amplifying the Brownian motion until the effective damping becomes negative $c_{\rm eff} < 0$ such that it reaches the threshold for self-sustained oscillation; beyond this threshold the motion amplitude is amplified up to a level where it is limited by nonlinear effects. Since the frequency of this so-called limit-cycle is close to ω_i , this kind of oscillation behaviour can be used as a clock and has been reported in graphene membranes with optothermal [18, 104] and electronic feedback [31].

4.2. Physical parameters determining the linear dynamics

In conventional MEMS devices material properties are usually accurately known, and fabrication induced mechanical stresses are usually uniform over a wafer (the substrate on top of which the devices are fabricated) and can be characterised with dedicated test structures [105]. This makes it possible to accurately estimate the modal mass and stiffness of MEMS resonators from their geometry. In 2D material membranes, however, it is much more challenging to determine these parameters since (a) the material properties are more difficult to measure because conventional characterisation techniques fail, and (b) there is large variability and non-uniformity of the suspended 2D material parameters caused by nonreproducible material growth and device fabrication methods. As a consequence, there is a large variation in literature values of the relevant material and device parameters, that are important to predict and understand the dynamics of 2D material membranes. However, once fabricated, several of these parameters can be deduced from the measured static and dynamic motion, as will be outlined in this section.

The resonance frequency and quality factor can be extracted relatively easily from experiments by fitting equation (14) to the data and the amplitude can be determined with some more effort using the calibration methods described in section 2.6. With the amplitude, resonance frequency, and quality factor determined accurately, the remaining coefficients in equation (14) can be determined provided that the force can also be determined either from models or measurements. An example of this procedure is given in [14], where the mass increase of a graphene membrane due to a small amount of pentacene (a small aromatic hydrocarbon molecule) is studied.

An important point in determining the actual values of the physical parameters is to realize that e.g. the modal mass coefficient m_i is not the actual mass of the system. Numerical coefficients, which depend on mode shape, measurement position and resonator geometry, that relate the actual mass to m_i need to be calculated. This can be done by evaluating the kinetic and potential energy in the resonator [55, 56, 88]. For a circular drum, the derivation is given in appendix B and results in a simplified equation of motion that resembles equation (1). Analytical expressions are found for modal mass m_i , modal stiffness k_i , the effective force coefficients and also the nonlinear terms that will be discussed in the next section. Specifically, for the fundamental mode of a circular drum one finds $m_1 = 0.2695m$ and $k_1 = 4.8967n_0$, where $m = \rho h \pi R^2$ is the total mass of the membrane (ρ is the mass density of the membrane material) and n_0 its initial tension. For more complicated device geometries, finite element methods can be more convenient to determine the mode-shapes. Using these modeshapes, the stiffness and mass coefficients can be determined by integrating elastic and kinetic energy over the device volume [55]. If the damping mechanism is known, the modal quality factor can even be estimated using finite elements for support losses [55] and thermo-elastic damping [106] (see section 4.2.3). In the following three subsections we will first discuss experimental determination of the modal mass (m_i) and stiffness (k_i) , followed by a subsection on determining dissipation (c_i) characterized by the quality factor.

4.2.1. Modal mass

In principle, the modal mass of a resonance mode can be determined experimentally from the relation $m_i =$ k_i/ω_i^2 if the resonance frequency and modal stiffness are known. Although the resonance frequency ω_i is straightforward to measure, the stiffness mainly depends on the pretension in the membrane, a parameter that is difficult to measure or control directly as will be discussed in the next subsection. One way to circumvent this problem is to vary the pretension and extract the modal stiffness from the resulting change in resonance frequency. Along this line experimental estimates [14, 107, 108] of the modal mass m_i of a graphene resonator were made by fitting the relation between resonance frequency and applied pressure curve, where the pressure was applied either by electrostatic forces [14, 21] or by a gas pressure [107, 108]. The method relies on the fact that the modal stiffness $k_i(\Delta P)$ and pretension in a membrane change with the applied pressure difference ΔP across the membrane.

By fitting the resulting $\omega_i(\Delta P)$ measurement both m_i and k_i can be inferred, noting that the model should include tension changes and for electrostatic pressure also include electrostatic softening effects [21] (see sections 3.1, 6.2.1 and equation (29)).

However, in practice models for k_i and its pressure dependence can be inaccurate due to the presence of wrinkles, tension non-uniformity or other imperfections. To avoid this problem, mass determination based on the squeeze-film effect can be applied [23], which uses the fact that the resonance frequency of a graphene membrane, that is close to a counter electrode at a distance g, depends on the ambient gas pressure P_a by the relation $\omega_i^2(P_a) - \omega_i^2 = \frac{P_a}{g\rho h}$ (see equation (31)). From this relation the mass density per area ρh can be obtained directly by measuring the resonance frequency versus ambient pressure curve. Using this technique the mass m_i of a 31 layer graphene resonator was determined [23].

In table 1, we list the experimental mass density of several single-layer graphene, MoS_2 and WSe_2 devices reported in literature. Although errors can be expected since the mode shape can be uncertain in some cases, it is clear that consistently a larger mass is measured than theoretically expected. The cleanest devices that are closest to the theoretical values are either produced by mechanical exfoliation without transfer polymers involved [107], or by cleaning the device using Ohmic heating [109]. The table includes methods where electrostatic softening or tensioning are used; these two are differentiated, since electrostatic softening is independent of the mode-shape, whereas electrostatic tensioning does depend on the mode shape.

4.2.2. Modal stiffness

The stiffness of thin structures is determined both by their bending rigidity, and by their tensile stress.

Authors	Material	Method	Measured $\rho h (\mathrm{kg} \mathrm{m}^{-2})$	Deviation
Bunch et al [107]	Exfoliated graphene	Tension (gas)	9.6×10^{-7}	1.3
Singh <i>et al</i> [110]	Exfoliated graphene	Tension (electrostatic)	$5.7 imes 10^{-6}$	7.4
Barton et al [18]	CVD graphene	Tension (electrostatic)	$3.54 imes 10^{-6}$	4.6
			2.23×10^{-6}	2.9
Song <i>et al</i> [111]	Exfoliated graphene	Electrostatic softening	7.47×10^{-6}	9.7
Chen et al [14]	Exfoliated graphene	Tension (electrostatic)	$3.6 imes 10^{-6}$	4.7
	Annealed by Ohmic heating	Tension (electrostatic)	1.6×10^{-6}	2.1
Singh et al [64]	CVD graphene	Tension (electrostatic)	$2.2 imes 10^{-5}$	29
De Alba et al [29]	CVD graphene	Tension (electrostatic)	$8.4 imes 10^{-6}$	11
			$7.3 imes 10^{-6}$	9.5
Morell et al [109]	WSe ₂	Electrostatic softening	$15.6 imes 10^{-6}$	1.3
Manzeli <i>et al</i> [70]	CVD MoS ₂	Tension (electrostatic)	$3.8 imes 10^{-6}$	1.16
		. ,	$2.3 imes 10^{-5}$	7.1

Table 1. Table with mass density ρh determined in several single–layer 2D material membranes using different methods; the deviation indicates the ratio between the measured and theoretically calculated mass.

If one of these effects dominates, the structure is in the plate or membrane limit respectively. The dynamics in these limits are discussed in appendix B in sections B.1 and B.2. When increasing the thickness of the structure, a transition from the membrane to the plate limit occurs [12], which can be observed in the resonance frequencies and their ratios (appendix B.3). For thicker flakes the bending rigidity can be calculated from the material's Young's modulus, Poisson's ratio and thickness, but in the membrane limit the stiffness is mainly determined by the pretension.

The pretension in 2D membranes is hard to control, because it depends strongly on the fabrication method. As a result the modal stiffness of 2D resonators is difficult to predict from models and requires experimental determination. One route for this is the measurement of the modal mass by one of the techniques from the previous subsection and subsequent calculation of the modal stiffness using the relation $k_i = m_i \omega_i^2$. However, often the methodologies discussed in the previous section are not easily applied, or the models on which they rely are inaccurate due to device imperfections as discussed below. A second route, thermomechanical motion for determination of stiffness, is closely related to calibration, since if the measurement system is wellcalibrated (section 2.6), such that q_i is known, the modal stiffness k_i can be determined from the thermal motion using the relation $\frac{1}{2}k_{\rm B}T = \frac{1}{2}k_i\langle q_i^2\rangle$. A third method is characterization of the membrane's pretension by AFM or Raman methods and analytical or finite element method (FEM) calculation of the modal dynamic stiffness. Many studies have focused on AFM and Raman spectroscopy for studying the tension and stiffness of suspended 2D materials and their uniformity [51, 52, 61, 113–115].

In addition to tension variation, some 2D materials naturally exhibit large mechanical anisotropy in their bending rigidity, which in the plate limit can significantly modify their mode shapes and resonance frequencies with respect to those of isotropic materials (see figures 5(e)-(f)) [112, 116]. It is much more difficult to determine modal stiffness and mode-shapes in the presence of these tension uniformities or material anisotropies and building a better understanding of these effects is an active topic of research. For this purpose mode shapes need to be measured, using methods [46] discussed in section 2.5, and shown in figures 5(a)-(c). Here, the nonuniform tension in the resonator, causes the modeshape of the second mode to become asymmetric (figures 5(b) and (c)). Since all mode shapes are affected by this nonuniform tension, deviations in all other resonance frequencies of the membrane are present as well (figure 5(d)).

A step beyond characterizing tension and its effect on the modal stiffness and resulting dynamics, is the ability to tune tension to change the dynamics of 2D material membranes. One strategy is to apply an outof-plane force, by electrostatic actuation or gas pressure [114, 118]. An alternative method is to adjust the stress in the in-plane direction, which has the advantage that it maintains a flat membrane configuration. To this end, thermal heater substrates have been developed that consist of a metal ring on which a graphene membrane is suspended [93]. Due to the positive thermal expansion of the substrate and the negative thermal expansion coefficient of graphene, tension is induced in the membrane when heating it by passing currents through the ring so that the membrane flattens (figures 6(a) and (b)). Another more invasive approach to thermal tuning is to pass a large current through a suspended graphene membrane and heat up the membrane directly by Joule heating [119]. This leads to a nonuniform temperature and tension and only works for conductive materials, but does allow for much higher temperatures and therefore larger tuning range of resonance frequency. Similarly, cooling down the material changes the tension, which can be used to study material properties like thermal expansion (see section 6.1.3). Even more accurate control over tension is obtained using MEMS actuators (figures 6(c) and (d)), which can







Figures (a) and (b) are reprinted from [93] licensed under CC-BY from [117], copyright (2020) Wiley-VCH GmbH.

tune 2D material resonance frequencies over a range of more that 10% [82, 117].

4.2.3. Quality factor and dissipation

From experiments, the quality factor of a resonance mode Q_i , that is closely related to the damping coefficient $c_i = \sqrt{k_i m_i}/Q_i$, can be determined in a straightforward manner either from a frequency response fit by equation (14) or from ring-down measurements [34, 121]. In a ring-down experiment the resonator is driven at resonance, after which the

driving is stopped and the slow decay of the envelope of $q_i(t)$ is fit using equation (12). In particular when the Q-factor is very high, the ring-down measurement has the advantage that it is less sensitive to frequency drifts and fluctuations that can lead to spectral broadening [122]. However, although the total losses can be determined from the measured Q_i , it is much more difficult to determine the microscopic mechanism that causes these losses, because of the large number of mechanisms that can contribute to damping.





The first measurements of single-layer graphene resonators showed quality factors of Q = 50-100 at room temperature [11]. In this work, the authors also hinted at the fact that the quality factor increases at lower temperatures, but the first systematic study of the temperature dependence of Q was done by Chen *et al* [14] a few years later, where the authors observed an increase in Q by a factor of more than 200 when cooling the resonators down to 5 K. Moreover, the trend of dissipation decrease was found to consist of two regimes: a T^3 dependence above 100 K and a $T^{0.3-0.4}$ dependence below this temperature. This trend is also observed in resonators from CVD graphene (see figure 7(a)) [120].

These measurements sparked two questions that led to a large number of studies in the years to follow: (a) Why are the quality factors of graphene resonators so low at room temperature compared to, e.g. their diamond NEMS (nanoelectromechanical systems) counterparts? (b) Why does the quality factor increase so drastically with decreasing temperature and what constitutes the two distinct regimes? Interestingly, there was one known nanomechanical system where similar trends were observed: suspended carbon nanotubes [77, 123, 124]. It turned out later, however, that these observations were not limited to carbon-based NEMS, but were rather a characteristic of van-der-Waals nanomechanical resonators regardless of their chemical composition. Q-factors of the same magnitude have been observed in resonators made of transition-metal dichalcogenides (TMDC) (MoS₂ [12, 125], WSe₂ [109] (figure 7(b)), TaSe₂ [126], TaS₂ [127]), hBN [128, 129], b-P [130], MPS₃ antiferromagnets [127] (FePS₃, MnPS₃, NiPS₃) and even in other ultrathin materials, such as membranes of coordination polymers [131] and complex oxides [132]. The temperature dependence of the Q-factor of some of these resonators has also been measured, and has consistently shown a similar trend as graphene [109, 125, 127, 129, 132] (figure 7).

An in-depth theoretical discussion on the different damping mechanisms in graphene can be found in Seoánez *et al* [133]. In the following we will outline the most relevant mechanisms that can limit the Q-factor and their temperature dependencies.

Studies have shown that membrane diameter and pre-tension are two parameters that are strongly correlated with the Q factor of 2D resonators [120, 134]. In SiN membrane resonators, it is well-known that tension increases Q by a mechanism called dissipation dilution [135] and similar models were found to apply in 2D materials [126, 136]. Tension increase might also partly account for the increase in Q with decreasing temperatures [110, 127]. When the temperature decreases, the tension in the resonator increases, flattening the membrane and this may well be the main source of decreasing dissipation when lowering temperature. Tensioning the drum in a similar fashion at room temperature is challenging, as using a backgate deforms the resonator out-ofplane and introduces a strong electric field, which is known to deteriorate the Q factor (section 6.2.1). Efforts have been made to establish in-plane tensioning at room/elevated temperatures using a piezo crystal [137] or a heater ring [93] which resulted in a small increase of the Q factor.

Besides tension and geometry, there is strong evidence that mechanical bending losses are important for determination of the *Q*-factor. The dynamic modulus of a material at a certain frequency can phenomenologically be represented [136, 138] by a complex number $E = E_1 + iE_2$, where E_1 and E_2 are the storage and loss modulus and their ratio is called the loss tangent $\tan \delta = \frac{E_2}{E_1}$. The effect of a nonzero loss modulus on the *Q* factor of a resonator can be assessed by using [55] from equation (12) that $Q_i = \frac{\Re(\omega_i)}{2\Im(\omega_i)}$ and substituting $E = E_1 + iE_2$ in equation (B.17) for the resonance frequency ω_i . Since $\omega_{\text{mem,i}}$ for a circular membrane (equation (B.2)) does not depend on the elastic modulus, theoretically a perfectly ideal membrane has zero loss (and infinite *Q*), independent of the loss modulus of the material. The reason for this is that for strings and membranes in the linear regime the potential energy during resonance is stored in the direction change in the tensile force (from in-plane to out-of-plane) instead of in changes in the material's stress and strain. However, this is not true for a bending circular plate, since its resonance frequencies $\omega_{\text{plate},i}$ depend on *E* (see equation (B.14)) and the material of the plate is experiencing a time variant strain during resonance. When both bending and membrane tension are taken into account (section B.3) to a good approximation [12], $\omega_i^2 =$ $\omega_{\text{mem,i}}^2 + \omega_{\text{plate,i}}^2$ and we find, for $E_2 \ll E_1$, for the fundamental mode an estimated *Q*-factor of:

$$Q_i = \frac{\Re(\omega_i)}{2\Im(\omega_i)} \approx \left(\frac{|\omega_{\text{mem},i}|^2}{|\omega_{\text{plate},i}|^2} + 1\right) \frac{E_1}{E_2}.$$
 (15)

This equation shows first of all that by increasing the tension in the material, the membrane resonance frequency $\omega_{mem,i}$ increases and this results in a larger Q-factor, thus providing an illustration of the dissipation dilution mechanism [135]. This dissipation dilution mechanism hinges on storing energy in 'lossless' membrane or string modes, thus reducing the relative contribution of other loss mechanisms to the Q-factor, which can also be defined as the ratio of 2π times the stored energy divided by the energy loss per cycle. Secondly, equation (15) shows that the Q-factor can also be increased by minimizing the material's loss modulus E_2 to reduce bending losses. Finally, reducing the thickness h and increasing the radius R of the membrane increases the ratio $|\omega_{\text{mem},i}|^2/|\omega_{\text{plate},i}|^2 \propto \frac{R^2}{h^3}$, which increases Q_i .

A difficult question is: what mechanisms determine the loss modulus E_2 in 2D materials? A number of mechanisms is known to cause anelastic relaxation losses in solids [139], most of which might play a role in 2D materials. Information about the underlying mechanism can to some extent be obtained by measurements as a function of frequency and temperature. By testing the bulk material using dynamic mechanical analysis, E_2 can be estimated, although it might be different when thinned down to atomic thickness and can also be frequency dependent.

An important anelastic loss mechanism affecting E_2 is thermoelastic damping [140] where the periodic compression and expansion of the material causes spatial temperature variations. When heat flows to equilibriate these temperature variations, the mechanical energy is lost. The degree of internal friction depends both on the thermoelastic properties of the material [141] and on the geometry of the resonator. The thermoelastic damping loss is proportional to the product of temperature and heat capacitance c_v and a factor that depends on the geometry, mechanical frequency and thermal diffusivity. The recently observed

large changes in loss close to phase transitions in 2D materials [127], that approximately follow the trend $\frac{1}{Q} \propto c_v T$, support the idea that thermodynamic effects play a role in the *Q*-factor of 2D materials by demonstrating that large changes in specific heat are accompanied by large changes in *Q*.

Instead of damping by converting mechanical energy to heat, resonance losses can also occur when acoustic waves leave the membrane, transporting energy from the membrane resonator to the substrate via the edge of the drum, an effect that is called acoustic radiation loss, which is known to play a role in other NEMS and MEMS resonators [55]. At the edge of the drum the 2D material often makes a kink due to edge adhesion. Acoustic waves might travel across this kink from the suspended to the unsuspended part of the 2D material [142], contributing to such acoustic radiation losses. In some cases the energy does not leave the resonance mode via the clamping points, but is transferred to other resonance modes of the same resonator via mode-coupling, which can lead to linear damping [143] but also to nonlinear damping as will be discussed in section 5.

Another mechanism related to the edge of the membrane, is adhesion loss, due to the repetitive adhesion and delamination of the material during resonance. This mechanism is usually dismissed in literature as a loss mechanism for 2D resonators because the energy density of a vibrating membrane at the edges is not sufficient to break the hydrogen bonds created between silanol groups (SiOH) at the interface and the exfoliated flake [133]. The effect of the edge can be studied via the effect of membrane geometry on the Q-factor [144].

Besides the aforementioned mechanisms, also the role of wrinkles, contamination and defects on the *Q*-factor cannot be ruled out, and a large reduction of *Q* might be expected when a polymer contamination layer goes through the glass-transition. In general, more research is needed to obtain a full understanding of the loss mechanisms in 2D resonators and their temperature, material, frequency and geometry dependence.

5. Nonlinear dynamics of 2D membranes: motion beyond the linear regime

Nonlinear dynamic effects are of paramount importance in 2D material resonators, since they precipitate already at excitation forces of only a few pN, and shrink the dynamic range over which the resonator's response is linear to span less than two orders of magnitudes (see figure 1). 2D material membranes exhibit a plethora of nonlinear dynamic phenomena that cannot be easily obtained in other mechanical systems. Many of these complex nonlinear dynamical phenomena can be present in the same device as shown in figure 8 for a multi-layer graphene nanodrum optothermally driven into resonance. In the first



Figure 8. Measured nonlinear dynamic frequency response curves of a multi-layer graphene nanodrum (10 nm thick and 5 μ m in diameter); from the red to the blue curves the drive level increases (color bar on the right hand side). In a single set of measurements the Duffing response, nonlinear damping, parametric resonance and internal resonance (mode-coupling) are observed, by simultaneous application of both direct and parametric drive. The linear *x*-axis indicates the detection frequency in terms of the fundamental resonance frequency $\omega = \omega_1$, the logarithmic *y*-axis shows the measured mechanical compliance [FRF(ω)]. At a frequency ω_{IR} an internal resonance between a direct and parametric mode is observed. Reproduced from [35]. CC BY 4.0.

part of the following section, we will discuss how these complex frequency response curves arise from the nonlinear force terms of $F_{nl,i}$ and $F_{ext,i}$ in equation (1). Then we will discuss the various physical effects from which these force terms originate: geometric nonlinearity, nonlinear actuation forces, nonlinear damping, and mode coupling.

5.1. Nonlinear dynamic phenomena

5.1.1. Dynamics in the presence of nonlinear stiffness and damping

The most well-known nonlinear equation of motion in nonlinear structural dynamics is the Duffing equation, which contains a nonlinear stiffness term of the form $F_{nl,i} = \gamma q_i^3$ resulting in this equation of motion:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_i + k_i q_i + \gamma q_i^3 = F_{\text{ext},i0} \cos(\omega t - \phi) + \tilde{F}.$$
(16)

We will assume that the constant force term \hat{F} is zero for now. As a consequence of the Duffing term, the stiffness effectively becomes amplitude dependent, as can be seen by writing the total restoring force as $F_{k,i} = (k_i + \gamma q_i^2)q_i$. From this equation it follows that for positive $\gamma > 0$ the time averaged modal stiffness $k_{\text{eff},i} = k_i + \gamma \langle q_i^2 \rangle$ will on average be larger than k_i . This effect is called spring hardening and leads to an increase in the resonance frequency $\omega_i \approx \sqrt{k_{\text{eff},i}/m_i}$ with increased amplitude. For $\gamma < 0$ the opposite effect, spring softening, occurs, resulting in a decrease in the resonance frequency at higher amplitudes.

Equation (16) can be solved analytically by approximating the solution by a function of the form $q_i(t) \approx q_{i0} \sin \omega t$. By substituting this approximate solution in equation (16), balancing

the fundamental harmonics $(\sin \omega t, \cos \omega t)$ on both sides, and discarding higher-order harmonics (e.g. $\sin^3 \omega t, \cos^3 \omega t^3$), the frequency response function reads:

$$\left|\frac{q_{i0}}{F_0}\right| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(k_i - m_i\omega^2 + \frac{3\gamma q_{i0}^2}{4})^2 + (\frac{\omega_i m_i\omega}{Q_i})^2}}.$$
 (17)

This function is plotted in figure 9(a). Comparing equations (14) and (17), we note the presence of the Duffing constant γ in the denominator of equation (17) that breaks the symmetry of the Lorentzian-like peak around $\omega = \omega_i$ and bends the frequency response curve. The bending direction of the response curve depends on the sign of γ as discussed above.

In an experiment, when the driving frequency ω is swept upward approaching a resonance frequency, spring hardening causes the amplitude to increase and the resonance frequency to shift to a higher frequency (figures 9(a) and (b)). This process continues until the driving frequency exceeds the resonance frequency. Beyond this point, the amplitude suddenly jumps to a lower value, which also causes the resonance frequency to reduce ($\omega_i \approx$ $\sqrt{(k_i + \gamma \langle q_i^2 \rangle)/m_i}$). When sweeping the drive frequency downward, a hysteresis cycle is formed since $\langle q_i^2 \rangle$ remains small in the bi-stable region (figure 9(a)) until an upward jump towards higher amplitudes occurs near $\omega = \sqrt{k_i/m_i}$. Both of these jumps occur at so-called saddle-node-bifurcation points (SNB) at which the system becomes unstable because the frequency response function (FRF) curve has an infinitely steep slope. At driving frequencies between the two jump frequencies there is a bi-stable region, that contains two stable solutions, with high and low amplitude, and an unstable solution that is



Figure 9. (a) Duffing hardening nonlinear response and (c) softening nonlinear response. The response turns to hardening at large amplitude oscillations. The solid line in the two panels indicates stable solutions and dashed line is the unstable solution. SNB in the upper panel stands for Saddle-Node Bifurcation point. (b) Example of a Duffing hardening response measured in a graphene resonator. (d) Example of a measured softening response turning into hardening at large amplitudes of a graphene resonator. Figure (b) is reproduced from [20] licensed under CC BY 4.0. Figure (d) is reprinted with permission from [149], copyright (2018) AIP Publishing LLC.

indicated by a dashed line in figure 9(a). This typical Duffing response has often been observed [11, 14, 20, 31] in experimental studies of 2D material membranes at motion amplitudes of only a few nanometers.

In the presence of externally applied stochastic forces, but also of intrinsic sources, like thermomechanical noise (section 4.1.3), the bi-stable regime in a nonlinear resonator can enable stochastic switching between the two stable states (solutions) of the resonator. The noise might then help to amplify weak signals via a phenomenon called stochastic resonance [145]. An advantage of graphene nanodrums is that they can achieve stochastic switching rates as high as a few kHz near room temperature [38], hundred times faster than in conventional silicon resonators [146] at effective temperatures that are 3000 times lower, which could prove beneficial for enabling fast sensors based on stochastic resonance.

It is also interesting to note that when a 2D material membrane is deformed by a constant distributed pressure *p* or *dc* electrostatic force, the Duffing term shifts its resonance frequency [21, 147]. To analyze this effect, one needs to calculate the resonance frequency of the membrane about the new equilibrium position induced by the constant pressure. For this purpose, the generalized coordinate q_i is split into a static q_{is} and a dynamic q_{id} component: $q_i = q_{is} + q_{id}(t)$, with $|q_{id}| \ll |q_{is}|$. Inserting this expression in equation (16) gives:

$$k_i q_{\rm is} + \gamma_i q_{\rm is}^3 = \tilde{F},\tag{18}$$

from which the static deflection q_{is} due to \tilde{F} can be calculated. Once q_{is} is known, the Duffing equation becomes:

$$m_i \ddot{q_{id}} + c_i \dot{q_{id}} + k_i q_{id} + 3\gamma_i q_{is}^2 q_{id} + 3\gamma_i q_{is} q_{id}^2 + \gamma_i q_{id}^3$$

= $F_{i0} \cos(\omega t - \phi).$ (19)

It can be seen from the linear terms in q_{id} in equation (19) that the resonance frequency about the deflected position becomes:

$$\omega_i = \sqrt{\frac{k_i + 3\gamma_i q_{\rm is}^2}{m_i}}.$$
 (20)

Besides the extra linear term in equation (19), a nonlinear term quadratic in q_{id} arises due to \tilde{F} . This quadratic term is a consequence of the direction of the static force \tilde{F} which breaks the symmetry [148] of the system, and can significantly alter the dynamics. The presence of quadratic nonlinearities can lead to a combined softening-hardening response [149], like the ones shown in figures 9(c) and (d). Similar effects can occur when a Duffing system has an initial offset q_{is} from the flat position due to other reasons than a static external force \tilde{F} . Such initial offsets can for instance arise from edge adhesion and uneven tension (wrinkling) during the fabrication process.

The damping force in equation (1) can also be nonlinear, e.g. when $F_{nl,i} = \eta_i q_i^2 \dot{q}_i$ with $\eta_i > 0$, such that the effective dissipation coefficient $c_{\text{eff},i} = c_i + c_i$ $\eta_i \langle q_i^2 \rangle$ increases with an increase in the amplitude q_i . In practice, nonlinear damping can result from nonlinear stiffness, when a Duffing force term is combined with viscous delay, which can e.g. arise in materials where γ_i is proportional to the complex Young's modulus $E = E_1 + iE_2$ (see also equation (25) and section 4.2.3). For high-Q resonators, this nonlinear damping term η_i , which in general can be both positive and negative, changes the compliance and speed of the resonator at high driving forces and amplitudes. As a result, by increasing the driving force, the compliance $(|q_i/F_{\text{ext,i0}}|)$ exhibits trends like the ones shown in figures 8, 10(a) and (b), where with the increase in driving force, the Duffing resonance peak frequency increases due to spring hardening, while the peak amplitude decreases due to nonlinear damping. Nonlinear damping can also strongly influence parametric resonance, which will be discussed in the next section.

Before proceeding, we note that although analytical solutions can be found for several exemplary cases, in general obtaining them for nonlinear equations of motion is complicated, such that numerical techniques are often needed. A common technique in solving these equations is the use of numerical continuation schemes [150] that systematically trace the solutions of a system of differential



Figure 10. (a) Effect of positive nonlinear damping on the Duffing response for increasing driving force in the direction of the arrow, resulting in a reduction in peak compliance $(|q_i/F_i|)$. (b) Measured compliance as a function of driving power for a multilayer graphene resonator, showing the effect of positive nonlinear damping. (c) Parametric resonance in the presence and absence of nonlinear damping. SNB stands for Saddle-Node Bifurcation and PFB for Pitch-Fork Bifurcation. The solid lines in (a) and (c) indicate stable solutions and dashed lines the unstable solutions. (d) Measurement of parametric resonance in multiple mechanical modes in an opto-thermally excited single-layer graphene resonator. Figure (b) is reproduced from [35] licensed under CC BY 4.0. Figure (d) is reproduced from [33] licensed under CC BY 4.0.

equations in a space consisting of the state variables (displacements and velocities) and the parameter(s) (e.g. driving force, amplitude, driving frequency) over which continuation is performed and bifurcation points are identified. Several software tools are available for performing numerical continuation and bifurcation analysis including AUTO [151] and Matcont [152].

5.1.2. Parametric resonance

The parametric forcing term $F_{p,i}(t) = -k_{p,i}(t)q_i$ (section 3.4) in equation (1), can lead to interesting dynamics and provides an alternative to direct actuation via $F_{\text{ext,i}}$ for driving and amplification of motion; it can even result in sustained oscillation or squeezing of noise. We consider the case that the parametric drive and resonator motion has a sinusoidal form $k_{p,i}(t) = k_{p,i0} \sin \omega_{p,i} t$ and $q_i(t) = q_{i,0} \sin \omega t$. Then, the parametric driving force $F_{p,i}(t) = -k_{p,i}q_i$ contains frequency components at $|\omega_{p,i} \pm \omega|$. Therefore, when $\omega_{p,i} \approx 2\omega_i$, it is found that $F_{p,i}$ contains a frequency contribution at ω_i that drives the motion of mode *i* if the mode moves at its resonance frequency: $q_i(t) \approx q_{i,0} \sin \omega_i t$.

Parametric driving is often compared to a child on a swing, that periodically changes the length (and thus stiffness) of the swing. To maximize the kinetic and potential energy gain, the swing length should be maximum in the middle position and minimum at the end points. Since the swing passes the minimum position twice during one period of oscillation, the length should be modulated at twice the resonance frequency to amplify the amplitude of the swing. If the period of varying the stiffness is increased by an integer factor *n*, the energy gain mechanism is still synchronized with the motion (although less efficient), such that for lower frequencies $\omega_{p,i} \approx 2\omega_i/n$ with n = 1, 2, ... being a positive integer, the system can still be driven parametrically [96, 153].

The basic model that describes the nonlinear dynamics of membranes in the presence of parametric drive and a Duffing term is the Mathieu–Duffing equation:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + c_i \dot{q}_1 + (k_i + k_{\rm p,i0} \cos(\omega_p t - \phi))q_1 + \gamma q_1^3 = 0.$$
(21)

It can be shown from this equation, that at $\omega_p = 2\omega_i$ the energy added per cycle to the system by parametric drive is $E_{add} = \frac{\pi k_{p,i0} E_{stored}}{k_i}$, where E_{stored} is the stored energy. If this added energy exceeds the dissipated energy per cycle $(E_{diss} = \frac{2\pi E_{stored}}{Q_i})$, then for $\frac{k_{p,i0}}{k_i} > \frac{2}{Q_i}$ the energy supplied to the system will keep increasing indefinitely, unless it is limited by nonlinear damping effects that reduce the effective Q-factor. This condition is called parametric resonance [154] or parametric oscillation. Parametric resonance can also occur at frequencies that do not exactly obey $\omega_p = 2\omega_i$, although the further the separation of the driving frequency from this condition, the higher the drive levels $k_{p,i0}$ must be to reach parametric resonance as can be depicted in parametric (in)stability maps [33] (see equation (22)).

To obtain the frequency response curve of the Mathieu–Duffing oscillator for the fundamental (or principal) parametric resonance ($\omega_p \approx 2\omega_i$) and highlight the difference with equation (16), we again assume the solution to be harmonic as a first approximation, but since the principal resonance occurs at $\omega_i \approx \frac{1}{2}\omega_p$, we change our assumed solution to $q_i \approx q_{i,0} \sin(\frac{1}{2}\omega_p t)$. By following an analysis [150] similar to the one performed for the Duffing resonator, i.e. balancing the fundamental harmonics and discarding higher order ones after inserting the solution in equation (21), we obtain the trivial solution $q_{i,0} = 0$ and the non-trivial solutions, of which 1 is stable and the other unstable:

$$q_{i,0}^{2} = \frac{4k_{i}}{3\gamma} \left(\frac{\omega_{p}^{2}}{4\omega_{i}^{2}} - 1 \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{k_{p,i0}^{2}}{k_{i}^{2}} - \left(\frac{\omega_{p}}{\omega_{i}Q_{i}}\right)^{2}} \right).$$
(22)

A number of solutions of this equation at different driving forces are shown in figure 10(c). Equation (22) also shows that parametric resonance at $\omega_p = 2\omega_i$ exists only if $k_{p,i0} > \frac{2k_i}{Q_i}$. At parametric resonance, the solution branches with $q_i = 0$ lose stability through the so-called pitch-fork bifurcations (PFBs). These bifurcation points are the points where the trivial $(q_i = 0)$ and non-trivial solutions meet in the frequency amplitude response (see figure 10(c)). Parametric resonances can be observed at different driving frequencies in the same structure, either for different values [96, 153] of the integer *n* with $\omega_{p,i} \approx$ $2\omega_i/n$, or when different eigenmodes of the structure are excited parametrically via the same modulation parameter, such as shown in figure 10(d)[33]. 2D materials can exhibit record number of parametric resonances when the parametric drive $k_{p,i0}$ is gradually increased by opto-thermal tension modulation [33]; a phenomenon that has not been observed in macro-mechanical systems due to the high dissipation and the difficulty of modulating the stiffness.

Equation (22) predicts that the amplitude of the resonator will tend to infinity when sweeping the driving frequency ω_p upward. However, in experiments it usually drops down to the lowamplitude solution, after having followed the solution (equation (22)) up to a certain point. Nonlinear damping can account for this drop in amplitude, since it effectively causes a decrease of Q_i with increasing amplitude until the relation $k_{p,i0} > \frac{2k_i}{Q_i}$ does not hold anymore as shown in figure 10(d). Parametric resonance can therefore be used as a very sensitive technique for characterizing nonlinear damping [33, 35].

At driving levels that are not sufficient for parametric oscillation, $k_{p,i0} < \frac{2k_i}{Q_i}$, the parametric term in equation (1) can result in parametric gain (amplification) and noise squeezing [83, 155]. Parametric gain is the enhancement of a sinusoidal direct driving force $F_{\text{ext,i}}$ by supplementing it with a parametric drive. The parametric gain factor $G = |q_{pi}/q_i|$ is the ratio between the amplitude of the resonator in the presence of parametric drive $(|q_{vi}|)$ and in the absence of parametric drive $(|q_i|)$, and depends on the phase difference between the parametric and direct forcing terms. For certain phases the parametric gain is larger than 1, but for other phases the gain is reduced below 1, with a minimum gain of G = 0.5, such that it reduces the resonator's amplitude (G < 1). If the signal $F_{\text{ext,i}}$ is due to noise, with random phase, adding a parametric drive will therefore reduce this noise for certain phases and amplify it for other phases. This effect (for G < 1) is called noise squeezing [64] and can be useful, when for example the position of a resonator needs to be stabilized. It should be noted that since velocity is 90 degrees out of phase with position, the phase dependent gain caused by a parametric drive will either amplify velocity while reducing position amplitude, or vice-versa, so it is impossible to squeeze both position and velocity noise simultaneously.

5.1.3. Mode-coupling and internal resonance

Since the eigenmodes are orthogonal, there are no linear coupling terms between the equations with different mode number *i* in equation (1) and therefore mode coupling can only occur via nonlinear terms in the EOM [156]. In particular, mode coupling is caused by forces that are generated on one mode by the motion of another and corresponds to the terms in $F_{nl,i}$ in equation (1) that involve products of the generalized coordinates, like q_iq_j , with $j \neq i$. Up to cubic order $F_{nl,i}$ can thus be written as [56, 157]:

$$F_{nl,i} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k=j}^{N} \alpha_{jk}^{(i)} q_j q_k + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k=j}^{N} \sum_{l=k}^{N} \gamma_{jkl}^{(i)} q_j q_k q_l,$$
(23)

where N is the number of degrees-of-freedom, and the coefficients $\alpha_{ik}^{(i)}$ and $\gamma_{ikl}^{(i)}$ are the quadratic and cubic coupling terms that depend on the geometry, elasticity, and curvature of the membrane, but can also originate from e.g. electrostatic or optical forces, resulting in mode coupling between 2D materials and SiN membranes [158] or cavity modes [29], as will be discussed later. Besides the nonlinear stiffness mode coupling terms in equation (23), there is a similar set of nonlinear damping mode coupling terms like $F_{\text{nl},i} = \phi_{jk}^{(i)} q_i \dot{q}_j$, which has received little attention up to now. Mode coupling effects can be studied by driving both modes near their resonance frequency simultaneously, or by exciting one mode and study its ringdown [34, 102] while monitoring the effects of interactions with other modes. However, most commonly these coupling effects are studied [27, 35, 99, 159, 160] by driving one mode *j* directly or parametrically with an external sinusoidal force $F_{\text{ext,j}} =$ $F_{\text{ext,j0}}\sin(\omega t)$ while tuning its resonance frequency until interactions with other modes become noticeable. These interactions can be understood as follows: at sufficiently high driving force and when driving the mode close to its resonance frequency, the motion $q_i(t) = q_{i,0} \sin \omega_i t$ reaches large amplitudes, and as a consequence, mode *i* experiences a modecoupling force, e.g. of the form $\alpha_{ij}^{(t)} q_i q_{j,0} \sin(\omega_j t)$. Interestingly, it is seen that when $\omega_i = 2\omega_i$, the force has the same form of a stiffness modulated at 2 ω_i and thus resembles parametric driving (section 5.1.2), but since it is caused by the resonator itself instead of an external modulation, it is called auto-parametric excitation [159]. More generally, this kind of resonant excitation of a mode by driving another mode at resonance is called internal resonance, and can occur not only at $\omega_i/\omega_i = 1/2$ but also at other ratios, where the condition $\omega_i/\omega_i = n/m$ is also called a (n:m) internal resonance [154].

It is interesting to note that for intermodal coupling, the quadratic and cubic nonlinear restoring force terms of equation (23) have contributions that depend on the type of internal resonance that exists between the modes. For instance, in case of twoto-one (2:1) internal resonance [35] the dominant coupling terms in two-degree-of-freedom system are: $F_{nl,1} = \alpha_{12}^{(1)}q_1q_2$ and $F_{nl,2} = \alpha_{11}^{(2)}q_1^2$, and for three-to-one [34] (3:1) $F_{nl,1} = \gamma_{112}^{(1)}q_1^2q_2$ and $F_{nl,2} = \gamma_{111}^{(2)}q_1^3$. This is a consequence of mixing since e.g. driving at $\omega_2 = 3\omega_1$ is generated by the q_1^3 term and driving at $\omega_1 = \omega_2 - 2\omega_1$ is generated by the $q_1^2q_2$ term.

When two mechanical modes of the resonator interact in the vicinity of internal resonance, part of the mechanical energy is transferred to vibrations at other frequencies, which can be seen as a kind of nonlinear damping [34, 35, 143], since in an uncoupled (orthogonal) undamped system of eigenmodes, each mode is expected to maintain its energy forever, whereas coupling can lead to a distribution (equipartition) of energy over all modes. It has therefore been suggested that the nonlinear terms in the equation of motion can play a role in this equipartition [143, 161]. An experimental example of this type of damping by mode coupling, which will be discussed in more detail in section 5.2.3 can be seen in figure 8, where near frequency ω_{IR} , the peak amplitude of the parametric mode reduces.

Besides the nonlinear mode-coupling described in this section, it is also possible that the eigenmodes of different 2D material membranes are coupled (or hybridized) by connecting them mechanically or electrically, or by tuning them, such that the coupled system has different eigenmodes from the individual unconnected membranes [162–164].

5.2. Physical origin of nonlinear effects

After having discussed the different types of phenomena that can be caused by the nonlinearities in the equation of motion, we now discuss the physics and mechanics from which these nonlinear terms originate. We can distinguish two types of origins for the nonlinear coefficients in equation (1), the mechanical nonlinearities in $F_{nl,i}$ and the nonlinearities induced by the actuation terms $F_{\text{ext},i}$ or $k_{\text{p},i}$. Both material nonlinearities and geometric nonlinearities can contribute to the mechanical nonlinearities. For capturing the nonlinearities in actuation, the physics behind the actuation mechanism needs to be analysed. Finally, the output signal can be distorted by nonlinearities in the readout, however, since these nonlinearities do not affect the dynamics of the device, they can be calibrated and corrected for in a rather straightforward manner [15] and will not be discussed in detail here.

5.2.1. Mechanically induced nonlinear terms

Geometric nonlinearity is a primary cause of the nonlinear dynamic response of free-standing 2D materials. Its effect on a suspended 2D membrane under tensile stress can be intuitively understood by considering, as an example, a straight string at zero tension, that is deflected in the middle by a distance x from its equilibrium position, thus forming a triangular shape. The length change of the string increases proportionally to x^2 for small x according to Pythagoras' theorem, and the tension force in the string increases proportional to this length increase. Moreover, after multiplication by another factor x, that is obtained by taking the tension force component perpendicular to the string, which is approximately proportional to the small angle by which the string is deflected, it is found that the geometric nonlinear force required to deflect the string is a cubic function of the center deflection x, i.e. $F_{\text{geom,nl}} \propto x^3$. As a consequence of the geometric nonlinearity, the tension in the string increases, and therefore the system exhibits spring hardening such that its dynamics is described by the Duffing equation with $\gamma > 0$ (section 5.1.1).

Geometric nonlinear terms are often difficult to compute analytically, however numerical [20] and finite element model [157] based methodologies have been developed to determine the coefficients in equation (23). Some of these methodologies are discussed in appendix C. Once calculated, a fit of the nonlinear frequency response function, can provide high-frequency information about device and material properties, such as its Young's modulus [20] and loss tangent [33] that cannot be obtained with quasistatic techniques like atomic force microscopy. An interesting question is if these methodologies might be used to study differences between the static and dynamic material properties. Geometric nonlinearities can also result in nonlinear damping in a viscous material that will be discussed in section 5.2.3. In the presence of large rotations, inertia nonlinearities in the mass term of the equation of motion might also play a role [165], however, in membranes this effect is usually negligible. Besides geometric nonlinearities, also material nonlinearities, caused by nonlinearities in the stress-strain curve of the material, can induce nonlinear terms in the equation of motion. Up to now, no experimental evidence of the observation of effects of material nonlinearities in 2D materials on their nonlinear dynamics has been reported to our knowledge.

5.2.2. Actuation induced nonlinear terms

All types of actuation forces $F_{\text{ext,i}}$, including electrostatic forces [21, 29] and opto-thermal forces [22, 33, 38, 104], are nonlinear to a certain degree. In general the effect of nonlinear actuation terms can be analyzed by performing a series expansion of the force around the equilibrium position. As an example one can expand the electrostatic actuation force discussed in section 3.1, equation (3) around $w = q_i = 0$ for $q_i \ll 1$ to obtain:

$$F_{\text{ext}} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 A}{2} \left(V_{\text{dc}} + V_{\text{ac}} \cos(\omega t) \right)^2 \\ \left(\frac{1}{g^2} + \frac{2q_i}{g^3} + \frac{3q_i^2}{g^4} + \frac{4q_i^3}{g^5} \right).$$
(24)

From this equation it can be seen that the different powers of q_i in the actuation force add to the different mechanical linear and nonlinear terms on the left side of the equation of motion, equation (1). In this case the term proportional to $2q_i/g$ is a softening term that reduces the linear stiffness, and the terms $3q_i^2/g^4$ and $4q_i^3/g^5$ are quadratic and cubic spring softening terms that can be used for tuning nonlinear stiffness of 2D materials [149, 166]. In addition to these nonlinear terms, it is noted that the static actuation term $1/g^2$, in combination with the geometric nonlinear terms, can induce nonlinearities as discussed in equation (18). For other types of actuation forces a similar analysis of nonlinearities via actuation terms can be performed.

Tuning of the nonlinear terms in the mechanical equation of motion via the actuation force can be useful. For instance, it was shown that by adjusting the cavity depth g and the dc bias voltage, the electrostatic softening by the electrostatic force can compensate for the hardening geometric nonlinearity and thus increase the dynamic range over which 2D material resonators operate linearly [167]. On the other hand, the nonlinear terms in the actuation force do complicate the analysis and control over the intrinsic nonlinearities in 2D material resonators.

5.2.3. Nonlinear damping terms

As has been shown in figure 8 and discussed in section 5.1.2, signatures of nonlinear damping have been observed in frequency response and ringdown measurements of 2D material resonators [26, 33–35]. Figures 10(a) and (b) show how nonlinear damping manifests itself in direct and parametrically driven resonators, and how it can be modelled by a term of the form $F_{nl,i} = \eta_i q_i^2 \dot{q}_i$ in which η_i is the the nonlinear damping coefficient.

Although the presence of nonlinear damping has been detected in 2D materials, its origin is still a subject of debate, and different physical phenomena are believed to lie at its root including a combination of geometric nonlinearity and viscoelasticity [33, 168], coupling between the flextural modes and the in-plane phonons [169], Akhiezer damping [170], and nonlinear mode coupling [34, 35, 143, 171], of which we will discuss the first and last in more detail.

An anelastic (viscous) material can be described by a complex Young's modulus $E = E_1 + iE_2$ (see section 4.2.3). Since the geomtrically induced Duffing term γ of 2D material membranes explicitly depends on the Young's modulus of the material (see equation (C.8)), the real part of the nonlinear stiffness near resonance for harmonic motion $q_i = q_0 e^{i\omega t}$ becomes [33, 172]:

$$\gamma q_i^3 = \frac{\pi h}{f(\nu)R^2} (E_1 q_i^3 + E_2 \frac{q_i^2 \dot{q}_i}{\omega}), \qquad (25)$$

with $f(\nu) = (1.27 - 0.97\nu - 0.27\nu^2)$, which directly yields a nonlinear damping term in the equation

of motion proportional to the loss modulus E_2 . Although this type of damping in viscous membranes in the presence of geometric nonlinearities is thought to be important in 2D materials, to our knowledge equation (25) has not been tested experimentally.

Nonlinear damping via mode-coupling [34, 35, 143] is based on the notion that energy can leave the driven mode via the coupling terms in equation (23). This occurs in particular near internal resonances where the driven mode actuates another mode auto-parametrically, as is supported by experimental evidence [34, 35]. Strictly, the energy is not lost because it is not converted into heat, but in mechanical motion of another mode. Under certain circumstances the energy can return into the driven mode, an effect found in the work of Fermi, Pasta and Ulam [173]. However, practically, the energy usually does not return, such that the coupling contributes to nonlinear damping of the main mode at high amplitudes during driven motion [35] or during ringdown [34], which might even be tuned by adjusting the driving amplitude. Nonlinear damping terms might also contribute to our understanding of linear damping [143], heat transfer and equipartition between coupled modes. For instance, for two mechanical modes with generalized coordinates q_1 and q_2 and modal stiffnesses k_1 and k_2 , nonlinear damping forces $F_{d12} = -\eta_{12}q_2^2\dot{q}_1$ can arise, resembling equation (25). At a finite temperature T equipartition holds, such that the motion of mode 2 is given by $\langle q_2^2 \rangle = k_{\rm B} T/k_2$. This could result in a temperature dependent average damping force on mode 1 $F_{d12,\mathrm{av}} = -\eta_{12} \langle k_{\mathrm{B}} T / k_2 \rangle \dot{q_1}.$

6. Physical Interactions

The dynamics of suspended 2D materials is affected both by the internal membrane physics and by external processes that affect the membrane's surface and edges. As such, the membrane's motion is not only sensitive to the internal thermal, electric and magnetic processes in the membrane, but also to external forces from gases, liquids, charge and electromagnetic fields. A deeper understanding of the effects of these physical interactions on the mechanical motion and internal and external membrane processes can provide new methods for material characterization of atomically thin membranes, while at the same time offering a platform for enabling novel and improved environmental and force sensing applications, as has recently been reviewed [10].

In this section we review the effect of both the internal and external physical interactions on the dynamics of 2D materials. Some of the basic mechanisms have already been introduced in earlier sections, since these interactions also provide routes for actuating and detecting the motion of the membranes. We now provide a more in-depth discussion of the underlying physics, the possibilities for using interactions for material characterisation, and their importance for sensing external forces from the environment.

6.1. Thermodynamic and electromagnetic interactions

Heat in 2D materials can be stored in phononic lattice vibrations, as well as in electronic and magnetic degrees of freedom. There are not many techniques available to characterize these thermodynamic properties in suspended ultrathin membranes. In this subsection we will present several methodologies that utilize the coupling between membrane dynamics and thermodynamics for characterizing thermal and electromagnetic properties, that are difficult to obtain otherwise.

6.1.1. Thermal characterization via opto-thermal response

The high-frequency temperature modulation by a modulated laser does not only provide a route for contactless actuation of suspended 2D materials (section 3.2), but can also be exploited to learn more about their thermal properties. When heating a 2D membrane with a power-modulated laser at frequency ω , the absorbed laser power, $\mathcal{P}(t) = \mathcal{P}_0 e^{i\omega t}$, causes its temperature $T(t) = T_0 e^{i\omega t}$ to be modulated at an amplitude T_0 which can be expressed in the frequency domain as $T_0 = \frac{R_{\rm th} \mathcal{P}_0}{i\omega \tau_{\rm th} + 1}$. Here $R_{\rm th}$ and $C_{\rm th}$ are the membrane's thermal resistance and heat capacity respectively, and $\tau_{\rm th} = R_{\rm th}C_{\rm th}$ is the membrane's characteristic thermal time constant. The resulting effective thermal expansion force is $F_{\text{ext}} = \alpha_{\text{eff}} T$, where α_{eff} is an effective thermal expansion coefficient of the device (see section 3.2). Its frequency dependence can be written as:

$$F_{\text{ext}} = \alpha_{\text{eff}} R_{th} \mathcal{P}_0 \frac{1}{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{\text{th}}^2} - \alpha_{\text{eff}} R_{\text{th}} \mathcal{P}_0 \frac{i\omega\tau_{\text{th}}}{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{\text{th}}^2}.$$
(26)

This frequency dependence of the real (in-phase) and imaginary (out-of phase) parts of the force Fext,i can be characterised via the motion q_i , using the relation $q_i = F_{\text{ext,i}}/k_i$, which holds far below the fundamental resonance frequency. Equation (26) matches experiments well and fits can be used to obtain the thermal time-constant $\tau_{\rm th}$ of the membrane [19, 174]. This is illustrated in figure 11(a), which shows an example of the measured real and imaginary part of the frequency dependent amplitude in a suspended single-layer MoS_2 drum with a fit to equation (26). The imaginary part shows an extremum at $\omega = 1/\tau_{\rm th}$ = 1/227 ns. By combining the thermal delay time $\tau_{\rm th}$ with calculated values of $C_{\rm th}$, it is possible to determine the thermal conductivity $1/R_{\rm th}$, which was found to be 24.7 W mK⁻¹ for 8 μ m diameter MoS₂ drums [174], in accordance with estimates from literature. Thus, dynamic characterisation of the thermal time



Figure 11. (a) Complex amplitude of the mechanical motion of MoS₂ and graphene as a function of the frequency of the photothermal heating. (b) Left figure: resonance frequency of a WSe2 resonator as a function of temperature, compared to a theoretical prediction of the thermal expansion coefficient (red line and right figure). (c) Tuning of the linewidth of a single layer graphene resonator as a function of incident laser power. The left plot uses a laser with a wavelength of 568 nm, while the right plot used a wavelength of 633 nm. The sign of the linewidth change $\Delta\Gamma$ changes because the optical gradient $\nabla\mathcal{P}$ has a different sign for both wavelengths. Figure (a) (left) reprinted with permission from [174], copyright 2018 American Physical Society. Figure (a) (right) reproduced from [45] licensed under CC BY 4.0. Figure (b) is reprinted with permission from [109], copyright (2016) American Chemical Society. Figure (c) is reprinted with permission from [18], copyright (2012) American Chemical Society.

constant of 2D membranes can be used as a contactless tool to probe their thermal properties.

Recently, experimental evidence [45] was found for the theoretical hypothesis [175] that for graphene equation (26) is incomplete, because the out-of-plane flexural acoustic phonons are effectively decoupled from the in-plane (longitudinal and transverse) acoustic phonons. This causes the in-plane and outof-plane phononic baths to have different thermal time constants. Since the time constants corresponding to in-plane phonons are estimated to be much smaller than that of the out-of-plane flexural phonons, the slow time-constant $\tau_{\rm th}$ measured in [19] is attributed to flexural phonons in combination with phonon boundary scattering effects at the boundary of the suspended drum [142]. Evidence for heat transport by fast in-plane phonons, with time-constants below the experimental detection limit, was obtained from observations of an experimental offset (see right panel of figure 11(a)), in comparison to the real part of equation (26).

6.1.2. On-resonance thermal characterisation

An alternative methodology for determining the membrane's thermal properties is by characterizing the effect of the gradient in the laser intensity on the line width and frequency of the resonance peak. To do this, one exploits the optical gradient of the electric field in the Fabry-Perot cavity formed between the membrane and the substrate (section 2.1), which causes a position dependent optical absorption $\mathcal{P}(q_i) = (\mathcal{P}_0 + \frac{d\mathcal{P}}{dq_i}q_i)$. Because the thermal expansion force is delayed with respect to the power absorption, part of the resulting gradient in the opto-thermal force $dF_{\text{ext}}/dq_i \propto d\mathcal{P}/dq_i$ in equation (26) will be in phase with the velocity \dot{q}_i , such that both the squared resonance frequency and linewidth change by respectively $\Delta \omega_i^2 = -k_{\rm fb}/m_i$ and $\Delta \Gamma_i = -c_{\rm fb}/(2\pi m_i)$ (see section 3.5, equations (7) and (8)). This effect was first observed on singlelayer graphene resonators with optical readout of the motion [18], as shown in figure 11(c). The damping can become larger or smaller when changing the laser wavelength, which can be attributed to the sign of the optical gradient.

By combining the effect of opto-thermal backaction on the resonance frequency and damping, the thermal time-constant can be determined [176] with this equation:

$$\tau_{\rm th} = \frac{\Delta\Gamma_i}{\Delta\omega_i^2} = \frac{1}{\omega_i} \frac{\Im[dF_{\rm ext}/dq_i]}{\Re[dF_{\rm ext}/dq_i]}.$$
 (27)

The expression on the right side of the equation is valid more generally and can also be applied to extract electrical or gas permeation time constants (sections 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and figure 15). The appealing feature of this equation is that the prefactors of equation (26) drop out by taking the ratio. Since uncertainties increase when one has to distinguish very small shifts in line width or resonance frequency, which can occur according to equations (26) and (27) if $\omega \tau_{\text{th}} \gg 1$ or $\omega \tau_{\text{th}} \ll 1$, this methodology works most accurately when $1/\tau_{\text{th}}$ is of the same order of magnitude as the resonance frequency and not much smaller than the intrinsic line width of the resonance peak.

Thus, there are two complementary methods for determining the thermal time constant: the fitting procedure outlined in section 6.1.1 that works well at frequencies far below ω_i , and equation (27) that complements this technique by providing the possibility to study the thermal time constant at higher frequencies, for which $1/\tau_{\rm th}$ is of the order of the resonance frequency.

6.1.3. Thermal expansion characterisation

Finally, besides the presented high-frequency temperature modulation techniques, it is also possible to learn about the thermal properties of the membrane material by characterizing changes in resonance frequency due to a static temperature change ΔT . Due to thermal expansion, the tension in the membrane changes due to thermal strain ε :

$$n(T) = \frac{Eh}{1-\nu} \left[\epsilon(T_0) - \int_{T_0}^T \alpha(T') dT' \right].$$
(28)

Singh et al [110] used this concept to measure the temperature dependent thermal expansion coefficient of graphene by tracking the resonance frequency as a function of the environmental temperature, utilizing equation (28) in combination with $\omega_{\text{mem,i}} \propto \sqrt{n(T)}$. This methodology has also been applied to other 2D materials such as WSe₂ (figure 11(b)) [109]. When applying equation (28), corrections have to be made for the thermal expansion of the substrate. Vice-versa, after having performed an independent calibration measurement of $\omega_i(T)$, the resonance frequency can also be used to sense the membrane temperature, for instance if the membrane is locally heated by a laser with power P, under the assumption that differences in temperature distributions across the membrane can be neglected. The obtained temperature can be used to calculate the thermal resistance $R_{\rm th} = \Delta T/P$, and then calculate the thermal conductivity from the geometry [176, 177]. By determining $R_{\rm th}$ with a static measurement or from literature estimates, and au_{th} with a dynamic measurement, the heat capacity can be estimated using $C_{\rm th} = \tau_{\rm th}/R_{\rm th}$, as was done [176] for MoSe₂ and for [33] MoS₂. As shown in the previous sections, the dynamics of suspended 2D materials coupled to an optical field that acts as a heat source, has proven itself as a versatile probe to study the thermal properties of these materials. In the future, these dynamical characterisation methods are expected to further contribute to an improved understanding of heat transport in ultra thin materials.

6.1.4. Coupling to electronic and magnetic phases

Interestingly, clear changes in the slope and curvature of the $\omega_i(T)$ curve were recently observed [127] when crossing the antiferromagnetic Neél temperature in the thin layered 2D materials FePS₃, MnPS₃, and NiPS₃ (figure 12(a)). These were, similarly as in the previous section, attributed to changes in the thermal expansion coefficient. In fact, the thermal expansion coefficient also holds information on a more fundamental material parameter, the specific heat c_V , which, according to thermodynamic models, is proportional to the thermal expansion coefficient and shows a discontinuity (jump) at second order phase transitions, that can account for the observed changes in $\omega_i(T)$ near the phase transition temperature. This



temperature (solid blue line) and line–temperature derivative of f_0^2 (solid magenta line) of a (a) FePS₃ and a (b) 2H-TaS₂ nanodrum showing prominent features at the phase transition of the materials. Reproduced from [127]. CC BY 4.0.

demonstrates that the dynamics of 2D materials can be used to probe phase transitions which are difficult to study by conventional methods, because ultra thin materials do not respond strongly to conventional electronic and magnetic probes.

To demonstrate the potential of the technique, in two studies [127, 178] a significant effect of strain on the magnetic order in suspended 2D materials was observed by applying electrostatic force on the membrane while monitoring its mechanical resonance frequency. Since anomalies in the specific heat are quite universal signatures of phase transitions, the methodology is not only applicable to probe magnetic order, but also to electronic phase transitions, as was demonstrated by probing the charge density wave transition [179] in 2H-TaS₂ (figure 12(b)). Furthermore, it was observed that the phase transition has a large effect on the quality factor, which was also attributed to the change in the specific heat and its effect on the energy dissipation mechanisms like thermo-elastic damping [127].

Similar to the previously discussed opto-thermal actuation, the actuation mechanism can also be used to probe electronic, magnetic and optical properties of 2D materials via other routes. For example, in the electronic band structure of 2D materials like MoS_2 , the K and K' valleys form an electronic binary system, whose symmetry is broken if strong spin–orbit coupling is present. It was shown [180] that this effect can be used to actuate the vibration of single-layer MoS_2 in a magnetic field gradient induced by the substrate.

6.2. External interactions

In this section we discuss how external electrostatic fields and the gaseous environment of 2D material membranes can influence their dynamics, and in particular the *Q*-factor and resonance frequency.

6.2.1. Electrostatic interactions

Suspended 2D materials are often coupled to an electric field, especially when driven electrostatically (see section 3.1). For a perfectly conducting membrane, the electrostatic force is in-phase with the applied voltage. However, in practice, 2D materials have a substantial resistance R due to their low thickness, which in combination with the gate capacitance C results in an electrical RC-circuit that causes the voltage and electrostatic force on the membrane to be delayed by a characteristic charge relaxation time $\tau_{\rm el} = RC$, with respect to the externally applied voltage. Similar to the case of on-resonant thermal interaction, this leads to a time-delayed position dependent part of the electrostatic force with real and imaginary parts, that modify stiffness and damping terms [111] in the equation of motion, respectively (section 3.5). In the limit $1/\omega_i \ll \tau_{\rm el}$, which is applicable for a good electrical conductor such as graphene, the resonance frequency and quality factor can be written as:

$$\omega_i^2 = \omega_{i,\text{int}}^2 - \frac{\varepsilon_0 V_{\text{dc}}^2}{\rho h} \frac{1}{g^3}, \qquad (29)$$

$$Q_i^{-1} = Q_{i,\text{int}}^{-1} + \frac{\varepsilon_0 V_{\text{dc}}^2}{\rho h \omega_i} \frac{\tau_{\text{el}}}{g^3},$$
(30)

where $\omega_{i,int}$ and Q_{int} are the intrinsic resonance frequency and quality factor when $V_{dc} = 0$. Applying a *dc* voltage to the back gate thus lowers the resonance frequency (spring softening) and at the same time introduces additional damping and *Q*-factor reduction, an example of this can be seen in figures 13(a) and (b). This effect has been reported in several works [16, 17, 25, 34, 109, 111, 181] and the voltage dependence given by equations (29) and (30) can be used to extract the mass and τ_{el} .

Equation (29) is obtained by assuming a constant capacitance, however, in certain situations this is not valid. The electrostatic force coupled to the membrane results in an effective stiffness $k_{\text{eff}} = \frac{1}{2}V_{\text{DC}}^2 \text{d}^2 C/\text{d}z^2$. In 2D materials, quantum capacitance effects can be important, which directly alters k_{eff}



Figure 13. Effect of an external electric field on the resonance of suspended 2D materials. (a) Resonance frequency of a graphene/NbSe₂ heterostructure membrane as a function of gate voltage, showing a quadratic dependence as predicted by equation (29). (b) Quality factor of the same membrane as (a) as a function of gate voltage, showing a quadratic dependence on it in agreement with equation (30). Reprinted with permission from [181]. Copyright (2017) American Chemical Society.

through the 'd²C/dz²' term and this results in a resonance frequency shift. This effect has been modeled and measured in detail by Chen *et al* [182].

Besides the electrostatic softening in equation (29), electrostatic forces can also cause an electrostatic tensioning effect, where tension is proportional to the square of the force perpendicular to the membrane that causes a static deflection $q_{
m is} \propto V_{
m dc}^2$, and a tension $n \propto q_{
m is}^2$, such that approximately $\omega_i^2 \propto n \propto V_{\rm dc}^4$. The combination of this effect with electrostatic softening equation (29) leads to typical W-shaped or U-shaped graphs [14, 183] when plotting the resonance frequency versus the applied gate voltage V_{dc} , with the exact shape depending on parameters like pre-tension.

For applications in the optomechanics community one wants to apply high V_{dc} to achieve high frequency tuning, without significantly reducing the quality factor. Therefore, according to equations (29) and (30), it is of interest to minimize τ_{el} . The most successful approach towards this is to use heterostructures of 2D materials to improve the electron mobility and reduce resistive dissipation [181].

6.2.2. Interaction with gas molecules

When an unsealed graphene drum moves at low frequencies in a gas at an ambient pressure P_a , the gas molecules will enter and leave the gap region with height g, such that the pressure stays constant. However, this situation changes when the membrane moves at a high resonance frequency, because in that case viscous forces effectively prevent the gas from flowing back and forth during an oscillation period. If the resonance frequency is much higher than the characteristic time (τ_{gas}) it takes the gas to escape the cavity, the gas is compressed by the motion of the membrane (the squeeze-film effect), which results in a stiffness and corresponding resonance frequency increase given by:

$$\omega_{i,\mathrm{sq}}^2 = \omega_i^2 + \frac{P_a}{g\rho h} \tag{31}$$

The squeeze-film effect has been demonstrated using multi-layer graphene devices [23] as illustrated in figure 14(a). The device consists of a dumbbell shaped cavity which is 400 nm deep, and a graphene flake (31 layers) that only covers half of this dumbbell. This half covering ensures the existence of a venting channel that keeps the average pressure in the cavity equal to that of the environment. The resonance frequency rises to higher values as the pressure is increased, as expected from equation (31), that is is fitted to the data using only the resonance frequency at vacuum ω_i as a fit parameter, and assuming that $\omega_i \tau_{gas} \gg 1$. Excellent agreement with the experimental data is found up to 200 mbar, but a significantly lower stiffness is observed above this pressure, which is likely due to the breakdown of the assumption that gas does not escape above this pressure.

Thin films of gas have also been used to pneumatically couple two graphene resonators by connecting them via a channel [185] (see figure 14(b)). In this figure, the drum on the left is actuated, pushing gas through the channel and actuating the other drum on the right which responds with opposite sign. By observing the delay between the response of the opposite drum, the gas flow induced by these graphene pumps can be studied, making it an interesting platform to study gas flow and thermodynamics at these length scales.

The pressure relaxation time, τ_{gas} , can also be directly measured by studying the vibration of a membrane with a nanopore perforation below the resonance frequency [40]. Similar to the opto-thermal response, an extremum in the imaginary part of the complex amplitude is expected when $\omega \tau_{gas} = 1$, which can be seen in the measurement shown in figure 14(c). The blue arrows indicate this extremum due to gas permeation, the frequency of which



Figure 14. (a) Optical image of a 31 layer graphene squeeze-film pressure sensor and its measured pressure dependent resonance frequency. (b) Pneumatic coupling between two graphene nanodrums. (c) Measurement of τ_{gas} and τ_{th} in a graphene drum with a milled nanopore. Figure (a) reprinted with permission from [23], copyright (2016) American Chemical Society. Figure (b) reproduced with permission from [184], copyright (2018) IEEE. Figure (c) is reproduced from [40] licensed under CC BY 4.0.

changes as different gases are brought in the environment. In addition, the red arrows indicate the extremum due to the thermal time constant discussed in section 6.1.1), which occurs due to the opto-thermal actuation and does not change position when different gasses are used. The gas dependence of τ_{gas} agrees well with a model for effusion through the milled nanopore, an effect that can potentially enable new types of gas sensors.

6.3. Single relaxation time models

In sections 6.1.1, 6.2.1 and 6.2.2, we have shown that the interactions of 2D material membranes with their environment can well be modelled by a single relaxation time model, with relaxation times like $\tau_{\rm th}$, $\tau_{\rm el}$, $\tau_{\rm gas}$. In this subsection we shortly highlight the commonalities between these model and underlying physics. A more extensive discussion of single relaxation time models can be found in appendix D. In figure 15 we summarize the dynamics that is observed when 2D materials resonators interact with temperature, electrical *RC*-circuits and gases. In each case, the relaxation time emerges due to a delay between the membrane motion and the force action on the membrane. In the case of opto-thermal interaction this occurs due to heat diffusion, in the case of electrostatic interaction due to Joule dissipation and in the case of gas interaction due to friction. Figures 15(a)-(c) illustrate these mechanisms and the real and imaginary parts of the frequency dependent interaction forces and transfer functions h_{ω} (figures 15(d)–(f)) that can be accurately measured by the dynamic motion of 2D material membranes using the methods described in this section. The similarities between these interactions can be found in their dependence on the frequency of the oscillation ω . As shown in figures 15(d)-(f), the effect of damping is the largest when $\omega = 1/\tau$ and furthermore a transition between stiffness regimes occurs at this frequency. In figure 15 we also cite typical values of the time constant τ , this reveals the main difference between the different types of interaction as they occur on quite different timescales. Although single-relaxation time models are often only approximately valid, since multiple timescales can play a role, we note that in practice they provide quite a good model of the observed effects of interactions on membrane dynamics. Moreover the models can be extended to analyze more intricate and new types of physics, characterized via the motion of 2D material membranes.



Figure 15. Overview of physical interactions that result in position and velocity-dependent forces on the membrane, discussed in detail in appendix D. (a) Opto-thermal interaction. The position dependence of the force occurs due to the optical gradient, the thermal diffusion in the membrane causes a phase delay of the force that alters the damping. (b) Electrostatic interaction. Due to the capacitor configuration, charges are stored on the membrane, resulting in a stiffness force. The diffusion of these charges results in a phase shift of the force, resulting in damping. (c) Gas interaction, shown here is the squeeze-film effect where the membrane is suspended over a thin gap. Due to the membrane motion, gas is trapped resulting in a stiffness force. The lateral gas flow causes a phase delay that damps the motion of the membrane. (d) h_{ω} in the case of opto-thermal interaction and a plot of the real and imaginary part of h_{ω} as a function of $\omega \tau_{\text{th}}$. Some typical values of τ_{th} from literature (DollemanA [19, 45], DollemanB [142], MorellA [176]) are cited below the figure. See also figures 11(a) and (c) for experimental results on opto-thermal interactions. (e) h_{ω} in the case of electrostatic interaction. Typical values from the literature (Song [111], MorellB [109], Will [181]) are calculated by taking the reported effective resistance and multiplying by the geometric capacitance. See also figures 13(a) and (b) for experimental results on this interaction. (f) h_{ω} in the case of the squeeze-film effect, typical measured values (Roslon [40]) can also be seen in figure 14(c). Note that either fits from equation (26) or equation (27) are used to obtain the reported time constants.

7. Discussion and outlook

Experimental investigations of the dynamics of 2D materials have progressed from phenomenological studies of the motion of 2D materials to studies that utilize the high-frequency motion of 2D materials as a probe for gaining a deeper and more quantitative understanding of the physics of this class of materials. In the future, we expect that 2D membranes will continue to evolve as a tool to study the physics and properties of 2D materials. Let us summarize the areas where we anticipate that the dynamics of 2D membranes can contribute to advance our understanding of 2D materials. First, mechanical techniques can contribute to the study of electronic and magnetic phases of matter in 2D materials that are insulating or are difficult to couple to an electronic lead (for example, due to Schottky barrier formation), such that electronic characterisation methods fail. Second, the methodologies presented in section 6 can contribute to studies of transient heat transport which

happens in the nanosecond range and is difficult to study by other means. Third, further study of electrostatically coupled 2D materials can help to understand what ultimately limits the ultrafast relaxation times of these systems. Finally, we expect that smart engineering of mechanical resonators from heterostructures of 2D materials, can enable deeper insight and control over interactions at interfaces, which can bring significant improvements in device performance and lead to new functionalities [10].

We conclude the review with some open research questions, highlighting promising directions for the study of the dynamics of 2D materials.

• Unravelling the Q-factor of 2D resonators. Although many effects have been linked to dissipation in 2D resonators, a quantitative picture of the different components contributing to damping, and their temperature dependence is still missing. Clamping, surface, contamination, bending and thermo-elastic losses all limit the Q-factor of 2D **IOP** Publishing

materials, whereas dissipation dilution by hightension increases Q. How can these individual factors and their dependence on geometry, contamination, material and temperature be distinguished and quantified?

- Understanding the nonlinear coefficients in the equation of motion. The nonlinear (cubic) spring constant in the motion of 2D materials can be used to extract their Young's modulus. However, many of the nonlinear coupling and dissipation terms have not been quantified yet. Can these coefficients be extracted and be used to characterize geometric nonlinearities and material properties such as the specific heat, thermal expansion coefficient or viscoelasticity?
- Frequency-dependent material properties. Many studies focusing on static properties of 2D materials have been carried out. Some of these properties, like the Young's modulus, can host a strong imaginary component which makes the measurement dependent on the frequency at which the materials are characterized. Are properties like Young's modulus and loss tangent frequency dependent, and if so why?
- Dynamic characterisation of wrinkles. Morphological imperfections have been haunting the field of 2D nanomechanics since its inception. Wrinkles affect almost all aspects of the dynamics of 2D materials, including their vibrational mode shapes, their resonance frequency and their thermal properties. Can methodologies be developed to detect and characterize static and dynamic wrinkles in 2D resonators, such that the relation between wrinkles and membrane dynamics can be unravelled?
- Measurement and control over phonons in suspended 2D membranes. Although initial studies have revealed that phononic and thermal transport in 2D membranes is significantly different from that in bulk materials, is it possible to actuate and detect phonons in 2D materials more accurately to elucidate their role in sound and heat transport?
- Nonlinear dynamic sensing with 2D membranes. The limited dynamic range of 2D material membranes puts a barrier on the sensing performance of these devices, since at low amplitudes their dynamics is affected by thermomechanical noise and at the upper end by nonlinearities (figure 1(a)). Can 2D resonant sensors be operated in the nonlinear range effectively, and can their nonlinearities be used for increasing sensitivity?
- Extending 2D resonators as probes of condensed matter physics. Initial evidence of the detection of phase transitions and thermodynamics has shown the potential of 2D resonators for probing non-mechanical effects. Could these techniques be improved in accuracy and scope to facilitate quantitative characterisation of material properties?

Data availability statement

No new data were created or analysed in this study.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the fruitful discussions and collaborations they have had with colleagues on the topics outlined in this review. The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement Nos. 785219 and 881603 Graphene Flagship. This work has received funding from the EMPIR programme co-financed by the Participating States and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (No. 17FUN05). F A acknowledges financial support from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement 802093 (ERC starting Grant ENIGMA) and 966720 (ERC PoC GRAPHFITI). R J D acknowledges funding by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) under Grant Agreement No. STA 1146/12-1.

Appendix A. Dynamic regimes of motion

In figure 1(a) the different ranges of motion for circular graphene membranes are shown, indicating that when scaling down the graphene membrane radius, the nonlinear and thermal motion become increasingly important. In this appendix we present the equations used to estimate the motion amplitudes that separate the different regimes of motion in figure 1(a). To determine the boundaries between the ranges, we use typical parameters for a graphene membrane: a constant pretension $n_0 = 0.03 \text{ Nm}^{-1}$, density $\rho = 2260 \text{ kgm}^{-3}$, graphene thickness h = 0.335 nm, Young's modulus $Y = 10^{12} \text{ Nm}^{-2}$ and Poisson's ratio $\nu = 0.16$.

Starting from the smallest scale, the ultimate detection limit for motion detection by interferometric readout is [186] the standard quantum limit $\langle z_{\text{SQL}}^2 \rangle^{1/2} = \sqrt{\hbar/(2m\omega_i)}$ which, for a fundamental resonance frequency $f_1 = \omega_1/2\pi = 30$ MHz, of a 5 micron diameter graphene membrane, gives an imprecision of $\langle z_{\text{SQL}}^2 \rangle^{1/2} = 0.3$ pm, where we use that the fundamental mode has a modal mass [88] m_1 of 0.27 times the total mass $\pi R^2 h\rho$ according to equation (B.7). Brownian, or thermal motion of the membrane corresponds, according to the equipartition theorem, to an energy $k_{\text{B}}T$ per mode and a root mean squared motion amplitude $\langle z_{\text{th}}^2 \rangle^{1/2}$ given by:

$$\langle z_{\rm th}^2 \rangle^{1/2} = \sqrt{k_{\rm B}T/(m_i\omega_i^2)}.$$
 (A.1)

At room temperature (T = 293 K) and for a resonance frequency of $\omega_1/(2\pi) = 30$ MHz, this results in a position standard deviation of $\langle z_{\rm th}^2 \rangle^{1/2} = 0.17$ nm, which is significantly higher than the quantum motion. Therefore quantum motion effects can be neglected at room temperature.

It is of interest to note that when scaling down the drum size, while keeping its mechanical pretension n_0 constant, the amplitude of the thermal Brownian fluctuations remains constant because the mass increases proportional to the square of the radius *R*, but the resonance frequency ω_1 decreases inversely proportional to *R* (equation (B.2)), such that the product $m_i\omega_i^2$ in equation (A.1) stays constant.

Since nonlinearities exist at any membrane amplitude, there is not a sharp boundary between linear and nonlinear regimes. Here, we define the nonlinear regime as the amplitude region for which the nonlinear component of the membrane elastic force exceeds 10% of the linear membrane force. To estimate this point, we utilize the equation [187] that relates the center deflection w_c of a circular membrane to the applied uniform pressure *P* and the related force $F_p = \pi R^2 P$:

$$F_p = k_1 w_c + k_3 w_c^3 = 4n_0 w_c + \frac{8Yhw_c^3}{3R^2(1-\nu)}.$$
 (A.2)

Thus, the system is found to be in the nonlinear regime for center amplitudes that exceed $w_{c,nl}$ as found from this equation:

$$w_{c,\mathrm{nl}} = \sqrt{0.1 \frac{k_1}{k_3}} = \sqrt{0.1 \frac{3n_0 R^2 (1-\nu)}{2Yh}}.$$
 (A.3)

If the amplitude of the membrane becomes even larger, it can rupture. For this yield strain we take a conservative value of breaking strain [188]: $\epsilon_b = 1.2$ %. By rewriting equation (A.2) in terms of an effective deflection induced tension, $n_{\text{eff}} = \frac{2Yhw_c^2}{3R^2(1-\nu)}$ such that $F_p = 4(n_0 + n_{\text{eff}})w_c$, and using $n_{\text{eff},\text{b}} = Yh\epsilon_b/(1-\nu)$, we obtain as rough estimate for the breaking strain amplitude $w_{c,b}$:

$$w_{c,b} = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \epsilon_b R^2. \tag{A.4}$$

Using these equations and the above-mentioned constants we find $\langle z_{\text{th}}^2 \rangle^{1/2} = 0.17$ nm for all drum diameters. For the drum radii of 50 nm, 2.5 μ m and 100 μ m, we find $w_{c,\text{nl}} = 0.17$ nm, 8.4 nm and 340 nm and $w_{c,b}$ = 7.0 nm, 349 nm and 14 μ m respectively as indicated in figure 1.

Appendix B. Resonant motion of circular membranes and plates

In this appendix we review the linear theory governing the undamped resonances of a circular drum



resonator, deriving the modal masses m_i , stiffnesses k_i and resonance frequencies ω_i , in membrane, plate and intermediate regime.

B.1. Membrane dynamics

If the membrane is very thin, the pre-tension dominates the restoring force and we will assume this pretension is uniform over the membrane surface. For the out-of-plane deflection w of the membrane in cylindrical coordinates r, θ we can write the following equation of motion:

$$\frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial \theta^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w}{\partial r} = \frac{\rho h}{n_0} \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial t^2}, \qquad (B.1)$$

The solution to this equation gives the resonance frequency and eigenmodes:

$$\omega_{\text{mem},\alpha n} = \frac{\gamma_{\alpha n}}{R} \sqrt{\frac{n_0}{\rho h}},$$
 (B.2)

$$W_{\alpha n}^{(1)}(r,\theta) = R(r)T(\theta) = J_{\alpha}(\gamma_{\alpha n}r/R)\cos\alpha\theta, \quad (B.3)$$

$$W_{\alpha n}^{(2)}(r,\theta) = J_{\alpha}(\gamma_{\alpha n} r/R) \sin m\theta, \qquad (B.4)$$

where $\alpha = 0, 1, 2, ...$ and n = 1, 2, 3, ... The constants $\gamma_{\alpha n}$ are found by solving the frequency equation:

$$J_{\alpha}(\gamma_{\alpha n}) = 0, \tag{B.5}$$

which for the first four modes gives: $\gamma_{01} = 2.405$, $\gamma_{11} = 3.832$, $\gamma_{21} = 5.135$ and $\gamma_{02} = 5.520$. The first four modes of a circular membrane are shown in figure 16.

An important property of vibrational modes is that their shape is fixed, therefore if one knows the deflection of a certain point of the membrane at a resonance, one automatically knows the deflection of all the other parts of the membrane. As discussed in section 1.1, a mode is therefore a single degree of freedom that can describe the motion by a single generalized coordinate q_i . It is this property that allows one to formulate the vibration at a resonance as an equation of motion with a single degree of freedom:

$$m_i \ddot{q}_i + k_i q_i = F_i, \tag{B.6}$$

where m_i is the effective (or modal) mass, k_i is the modal stiffness and F_{eff} the effective force, where the modal mass, stiffness and force depend on the vibrational mode under consideration and the choice of generalized coordinate. We choose as generalized coordinate the maximum deflection of the membrane. In that case, for the fundamental mode (figure 16(a)) the modal mass of a circular membrane compared to its real total mass m_{tot} is:

$$\frac{m_{(0,1)}}{m_{\rm tot}} = 0.2695, \tag{B.7}$$

while for the second mode (1,1) in figure 16(b) this ratio is:

$$\frac{m_{(1,1)}}{m_{\text{tot}}} = 0.2369.$$
 (B.8)

An overview of modal masses and how to calculate them for various geometries can be found in [88]. Once the modal mass is determined, the modal stiffness follows directly from equation (B.2):

$$k_{\alpha n} = \frac{\gamma_{\alpha n}^2}{a^2} \frac{n_0}{\rho h} m_{\alpha n}.$$
 (B.9)

B.2. Plate dynamics

If the membrane becomes thicker or if the tension is small, tension effects can be neglected and the restoring force in the membrane is generated by the internal bending moments in the material. This is called the plate limit. Taking into account this bending rigidity, the equation that governs the dynamics of the circular plate becomes:

$$\rho h \frac{\partial^2 w(r,\theta,t)}{\partial t^2} + D \nabla_r^2 \nabla_r^2 w(r,\theta,t) = 0, \quad (B.10)$$

where $\nabla_r^2 = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \theta^2}$ and *D* is the bending rigidity:

$$D = \frac{Eh^3}{12(1-\nu^2)}.$$
 (B.11)

Equation (B.11) is valid for a continuous uniform material, however for a 2D material that assumption breaks down in the direction perpendicular tot the plane. Nevertheless, single-layer 2D materials also have a bending rigidity [190], but equation (B.11) is not valid anymore, because the bending rigidity is dominated by the electron orbitals that resist bending, such that D needs to be calculated by other means [87]. Theory even suggests that for single-layer materials the bending rigidity can be temperature dependent [191]. Equation (B.10) can also be solved by separation of variables and this leads to the following eigenmodes and resonance frequencies:

$$W_{\alpha n}^{(1)}(r,\theta) = (J_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}r)I_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R) - J_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R)I_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}r))\cos(\alpha\theta), \quad (B.12)$$

$$W_{\alpha n}^{(2)}(r,\theta) = (J_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}r)I_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R) - J_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R)I_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}r))\sin(\alpha\theta), \quad (B.13)$$

$$\omega_{\text{plate},\alpha n} = \lambda_{\alpha n} \sqrt{D} \rho h, \qquad (B.14)$$

where $\lambda_{\alpha n}$ is the solution to the frequency equation:

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R)J_{\alpha-1}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R) - J_{\alpha}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R)I_{\alpha-1}(\lambda_{\alpha n}R) = 0.$$
(B.15)

The first four roots of this equation are: $\lambda_{01}R = 3.196$, $\lambda_{11}R = 4.611$, $\lambda_{21}R = 5.906$ and $\lambda_{02}R = 6.306$.

B.3. Plates under tension

When increasing the thickness of suspended 2D materials, their dynamics can be described by the membrane equation of motion (section B.1) in the single-layer limit and transforms [12] to plate dynamics (section B.2) for multi-layer membranes where bending rigidity quickly becomes dominant, since the bending rigidity $D \propto h^3$. In the intermediate regime both the bending rigidity and the tension contribute to the restoring force, resulting in the equation of motion:

$$D\nabla_r^2 \nabla_r^2 w(r,\theta,t) + n_0 \nabla_r^2 w(r,\theta,t) = \rho h \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial t^2}.$$
(B.16)

The resonance frequency is:

$$\omega_{\text{tot},\alpha n} = \sqrt{\zeta_{\alpha n}^2 \frac{n_0}{\rho h} + \zeta_{\alpha n}^4 \frac{D}{\rho h}}.$$
 (B.17)

The procedure to determine $\zeta_{\alpha n}$, the resonance frequencies and mode shapes can be found in references [192, 193]. $\zeta_{\alpha n}$ only depends on the dimensionless number $R^2 \frac{n_0}{D}$. This also gives a useful test to determine whether the lower modes of a circular membrane can be described using membrane or plate theory.

Since the evaluation of the resonance frequency is quite complicated in this case, often [12] the approximation $\omega_{{\rm tot},\alpha {\rm n}}^2 \approx \omega_{{\rm mem},\alpha {\rm n}}^2 + \omega_{{\rm plate},\alpha {\rm n}}^2$ is used.

Appendix C. Derivation of the nonlinear reduced order model of a circular drum

After having considered the linear dynamics in the previous appendix, we show here how a nonlinear reduced order model for the fundamental mode of a circular membrane can be derived, leading to the Duffing equation. The resulting analytic expression for the nonlinear Duffing term was used in [20] to extract the Young's modulus of graphene from the experimental nonlinear frequency response curves. The demonstrated procedure can be extended to include other modes and evaluate mode-couplings as well, and variants of it have been implemented with FEM techniques [157].

The Lagrange equations of a tensioned circular 2D membrane are given by

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial T_k}{\partial \dot{q}_i}\right) - \frac{\partial T}{\partial q_i} + \frac{\partial U}{\partial q_i} = \frac{\partial W}{\partial q_i}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, \bar{N},$$
(C.1)

in which T_k is the kinetic energy, U is the potential energy, W is the virtual work done by external forces, and q_i are the generalized coordinates that are used to define the motion of the drum. The potential energy of a circular drum for an isotropic material is

$$U = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{Eh}{2(1-\nu^{2})} \left(\epsilon_{rr}^{2} + \epsilon_{\theta\theta}^{2} + 2\nu\epsilon_{rr}\epsilon_{\theta\theta} + \frac{1-\nu}{2}\gamma_{r\theta}^{2}\right) r dr d\theta, \qquad (C.2)$$

where *E* is the Young's modulus, ν is the Poisson's ratio, *h* is the thickness and *R* is the radius of the drum. Moreover, ϵ_{rr} , $\epsilon_{\theta\theta}$ are the normal strains and $\gamma_{r\theta}$ is the shear strain that can be written in terms of the drum's deflection as follows [56]:

$$\epsilon_{rr} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial r}\right)^2,$$
 (C.3a)

$$\epsilon_{\theta\theta} = \frac{\partial v}{r\partial\theta} + \frac{u}{r} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial w}{r\partial\theta}\right)^2, \qquad (C.3b)$$

$$\gamma_{r\theta} = \frac{\partial v}{\partial r} - \frac{v}{r} + \frac{\partial u}{r\partial \theta} + \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial r}\right) \left(\frac{\partial w}{r\partial \theta}\right). \quad (C.3c)$$

In equation (C.3) u, v, and w are the radial, tangential and transverse membrane deflections. The quadratic terms in equation (C.3) are commonly known as von Kármán nonlinear terms and shall be included for studying the nonlinear dynamic response of the drum.

The kinetic energy of the drum can be calculated by neglecting in-plane inertia ($\dot{u} = \dot{v} = 0$), because the in-plane resonance frequencies are much higher than the considered out-of-plane dynamics and is found to be:

$$T_k = \frac{1}{2}\rho h \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^R \dot{w} r dr d\theta, \qquad (C.4)$$

where the overdot indicates differentiation with respect to time, *t*. For a membrane subjected to transverse distributed pressure consisting of a constant part p_0 and a harmonic component $F\cos(\omega t - \phi)$, the virtual work done can be calculated as:

$$W = \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^R \left(\frac{F\cos(\omega t - \phi)}{\pi R^2} + p_0\right) wr dr d\theta.$$
 (C.5)

To obtain the governing equations of motion, one would first need to discretize equations (C.2), (C.4), and (C.5) using a set of admissible functions that satisfy the boundary conditions. 2D material membranes stamped on top of cavities have fixed boundary conditions due to the strong adhesion force that exists between the substrate and the membrane. For this type of boundary condition u = v = w = 0 at r = R. Moreover, for axi-symmetric deflection/oscillations, strain-displacement relations (equation (C.3)) can be further simplified since for this type of motion v = 0, and $\partial u/\partial \theta = \partial v/\partial \theta = \partial w/\partial \theta = 0$. Thus, for a drum driven into its first resonance mode, one can use the following set of functions for discretization:

$$w = q_1(t)J_0\left(\gamma_{01}\frac{r}{R}\right),\tag{C.6a}$$

$$u = \frac{n_0(1-\nu)}{Eh}r + r(R-r)\sum_{k=2}^{\bar{N}} q_k(t)r^{k-2}.$$
 (C.6b)

Eventually inserting the discretized U, T and W in Lagrange equations leads to a system of nonlinear equations comprising a single differential equation associated with the out-of-plane generalized coordinate q_1 and $\bar{N} - 1$ algebraic equations in terms of the in-plane generalized coordinates $q_2, \ldots, q_{\bar{N}}$. By solving the $\bar{N} - 1$ algebraic equations in terms of q_1 , and adding a damping term, it is then possible to reduce the number of equations to the following 2nd order, Duffing type (equation (16)) differential equation describing the out-of-plane dynamics of the fundamental mode:

$$m_1 \ddot{q}_1 + c_1 \dot{q}_1 + k_1 q_1 + \gamma q_1^3 = F_{\text{ext},1} \cos(\omega t - \phi) + \tilde{F}_1.$$
(C.7)

According to the described procedure, the parameters in this equation are obtained as:

$$m_1 = 0.2695\rho h\pi R^2,$$
 (C.8)

$$k_1 = 4.8967n_0,$$
 (C.9)

$$\gamma = \frac{\pi E h}{(1.27 - 0.97\nu - 0.27\nu^2)R^2},$$
 (C.10)

$$F_{\text{ext},1} = 0.432F,$$
 (C.11)

$$\tilde{F}_1 = 1.3567 p_0 R^2.$$
 (C.12)

Here, γ is the cubic spring constant or Duffing constant. In section 5.1 the role of this constant on the nonlinear phenomena that are commonly observed in 2D material membranes is highlighted.

Appendix D. Single relaxation-time models

In this appendix the single relaxation-time models presented in section 6 and figure 15 are discussed in more detail.

Many physical phenomena resemble the physics of an electrical *RC* circuit, consisting of a capacitor in parallel to a resistor. When a current $I_{in}(t) = I_{in}(\omega)e^{i\omega t}$ is run through this circuit, the voltage V_{out} across the capacitor is governed by the following differential equation:

$$I_{\rm in}(t) = \frac{V_{\rm out}}{R} + C \frac{\mathrm{d}V_{\rm out}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{V_{\rm out}(\omega)}{R} (1 + i\omega RC)e^{i\omega t},$$
(D.1)

which can be rewritten as:

$$V_{\rm out}(\omega) = \beta h_{\omega} I_{\rm in}(\omega) = \beta I_{\rm in}(\omega) \frac{1}{1 + i\omega\tau}, \quad (D.2)$$

where the transfer [194] function $h_{\omega} = \frac{1}{1+i\omega\tau}$ captures the time delay $\tau = RC$ between current and voltage, indicative of the time taken to charge the capacitor and $\beta = R$ is a characteristic transduction constant. Since this relaxation time is fully described by the time constant τ , it is called a single relaxation time model.

In the dynamics of 2D material membranes we encounter three types of systems that can be described as single relaxation time models. The first is an optothermally actuated system with a heat capacitance $C_{\rm th}$ and thermal resistance $R_{\rm th}$, that is quite analogous to the electrical system we just discussed. In this case we find a thermal expansion force of the form:

$$F_{\text{ext,th}} = \alpha_{\text{eff}} T_{\text{out}}(\omega) = \beta \mathcal{P}_{\text{in}}(\omega) \frac{1}{1 + i\omega\tau_{\text{th}}}, \quad (D.3)$$

where $\mathcal{P}(t)$ is the modulated optical power absorbed by the membrane, $T_{\text{out}}(\omega)$ is the membrane temperature and $\tau_{\text{th}} = R_{\text{th}}C_{\text{th}}$ is the thermal time-constant.

When the force is position dependent, the real and imaginary parts of F_{ext} in equation (D.3) can alter the effective stiffness and damping coefficient as discussed in section 3.5. These changes in stiffness and damping can also be used to determine the value of τ , like in equation (27).

The circuit of an electrostatically actuated membrane consists of a capacitor (the membrane) in series with a resistor (the interconnect). The circuit acts as a voltage divider, where only the part of the input voltage V_{in} across the capacitor contributes to the electrostatic force. For such a voltage divider it is straightforward to show that we get a single relaxation time model of the form:

$$F_{\text{ext,el}} = \beta_1 V_{\text{out}}(\omega) = \beta_2 V_{\text{in}}(\omega) \frac{1}{1 + i\omega\tau_{\text{el}}}, \quad (D.4)$$

where V_{in} is the applied *ac* voltage, and the constants β depend on the voltage, electrical component values and geometry. $\tau_{el} = RC$ is the electrical timeconstant, which is the product of the electrical resistance and capacitance of the electrostatically actuated membrane.

The third type of relaxation time model is used to capture the squeeze-film effect, where the pressure difference across the drum reduces both due to gas flow out of the enclosing cavity with time-constant τ_{gas} at a rate proportional to the pressure difference Δp , and due to membrane motion with a speed \dot{q}_1 , as indicated by the following differential equation [40]:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Delta p}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\frac{1}{\tau_{\mathrm{gas}}}\Delta p + \gamma \frac{\mathrm{d}q_1}{\mathrm{d}t}, \qquad (\mathrm{D.5})$$

where γ is a proportionality constant. For a sinusoidal pressure variation $\Delta p(t) = \Delta p(\omega)e^{i\omega t}$, this becomes:

$$\Delta p(\omega) = \frac{i\omega\tau_{\text{gas}}}{1 + i\omega\tau_{\text{gas}}}\gamma q_1(\omega), \qquad (D.6)$$

where we again obtain a single relaxation time model of a slightly different form between the pressure and membrane position. The pressure across the membrane drives the dynamics of the drum, and can be coupled to the mass spring system, ignoring the intrinsic damping of the resonator:

$$-m_1\omega^2 q_1 + k_1 q_1 = \beta \Delta p. \tag{D.7}$$

If we substitute equation (D.6) into this equation, and rewrite β and γ using the well known solution in the high-frequency limit ($\omega \tau_{gas}$) and using $\omega_1^2 = k_1/m_1$, we obtain:

$$\omega^{2} = \omega_{1}^{2} + \frac{p}{g_{0}\rho h} \frac{\omega^{2}\tau_{gas}^{2}}{\omega^{2}\tau_{gas}^{2} + 1} + i\frac{p}{g_{0}\rho h} \frac{\omega\tau_{gas}}{\omega^{2}\tau_{gas}^{2} + 1}.$$
(D.8)

For high frequencies, $\omega \tau_{\rm gas} > 1$ the resonance frequency becomes equation (31). When $\omega \tau_{\rm gas} < 1$, the membrane is not oscillating fast enough to compress the gas, and the stiffness reduces. The imaginary part describes the damping, and this is maximum when $\omega \tau_{\rm gas} = 1$.

ORCID iDs

Peter G Steeneken line https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5764-1218

Robin J Dolleman
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6976-8443

Dejan Davidovikj 🕲 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6593-458X

Farbod Alijani l https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7439-8483

Herre S J van der Zant
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5385-0282

References

- Novoselov K S, Geim A K, Morozov S V, Jiang D, Katsnelson M I, Grigorieva I, Dubonos S and Firsov A 2005 Two-dimensional gas of massless dirac fermions in graphene *Nature* 438 197–200
- [2] Novoselov K S, Geim A K, Morozov S V, Jiang D, Zhang Y, Dubonos S V, Grigorieva I V and Firsov A A 2004 Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films *Science* 306 666–9
- [3] Zhang Y, Tan Y W, Stormer H L and Kim P 2005 Experimental observation of the quantum Hall effect and Berry's phase in graphene *Nature* 438 201–4
- [4] Nair R R, Blake P, Grigorenko A N, Novoselov K S, Booth T J, Stauber T, Peres N M and Geim A K 2008 Fine structure constant defines visual transparency of graphene *Science* 320 1308
- [5] Geim A K and Novoselov K S 2007 The rise of graphene Nat. Mater. 6 183–91
- [6] Dhanabalan S C, Dhanabalan B, Ponraj J S, Bao Q and Zhang H 2017 2D–materials-based quantum dots: gateway towards next-generation optical devices *Adv. Opt. Mater.* 5 1700257
- [7] Jayakumar A, Surendranath A and Mohanan P 2018 2D materials for next generation healthcare applications *Int. J. Pharm.* 551 309–21
- [8] Gupta A, Sakthivel T and Seal S 2015 Recent development in 2D materials beyond graphene *Prog. Mater. Sci.* 73 44–126
- [9] Macha M, Marion S, Nandigana V V and Radenovic A 2019 2D materials as an emerging platform for nanopore-based power generation *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 4 588–605
- [10] Lemme M C et al 2020 Nanoelectromechanical sensors based on suspended 2D materials Research 2020 8748602
- [11] Bunch J S, Van Der Zande A M, Verbridge S S, Frank I W, Tanenbaum D M, Parpia J M, Craighead H G and McEuen P L 2007 Electromechanical resonators from graphene sheets *Science* 315 490–3
- [12] Castellanos-Gomez A, van Leeuwen R, Buscema M, van der Zant H S, Steele G A and Venstra W J 2013 Single-layer MoS₂ mechanical resonators *Adv. Mater.* 25 6719–23
- [14] Chen C, Rosenblatt S, Bolotin K I, Kalb W, Kim P, Kymissis I, Stormer H L, Heinz T F and Hone J 2009 Performance of monolayer graphene nanomechanical resonators with electrical readout *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 4 861–7
- [15] Dolleman R J, Davidovikj D, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2017 Amplitude calibration of 2D mechanical resonators by nonlinear optical transduction *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **111** 253104
- [16] Song X, Oksanen M, Li J, Hakonen P and Sillanpää M A 2014 Graphene optomechanics realized at microwave frequencies *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113** 027404
- [17] Weber P, Güttinger J, Tsioutsios I, Chang D E and Bachtold A 2014 Coupling graphene mechanical resonators to superconducting microwave cavities *Nano Lett.* 14 2854–60
- [18] Barton R A *et al* 2012 Photothermal self-oscillation and laser cooling of graphene optomechanical systems *Nano Lett.* **12** 4681–6

- [19] Dolleman R J, Houri S, Davidovikj D, Cartamil-Bueno S J, Blanter Y M, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2017 Optomechanics for thermal characterization of suspended graphene *Phys. Rev.* B 96 165421
- [20] Davidovikj D, Alijani F, Cartamil-Bueno S J, van der Zant H S, Amabili M and Steeneken P G 2017 Nonlinear dynamic characterization of two-dimensional materials *Nat. Commun.* 8 1253
- [21] Sajadi B, Alijani F, Davidovikj D, Goosen J, Steeneken P G and van Keulen F 2017 Experimental characterization of graphene by electrostatic resonance frequency tuning *J. Appl. Phys.* **122** 234302
- [22] Inoue T, Anno Y, Imakita Y, Takei K, Arie T and Akita S 2017 Resonance control of a graphene drum resonator in a nonlinear regime by a standing wave of light ACS Omega 2 5792–7
- [23] Dolleman R J, Davidovikj D, Cartamil-Bueno S J, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2016 Graphene squeeze-film pressure sensors *Nano Lett.* 16 568–71
- [24] Lee C, Wei X, Kysar J W and Hone J 2008 Measurement of the elastic properties and intrinsic strength of monolayer graphene Science 321 385–8
- [25] Weber P, Güttinger J, Noury A, Vergara-Cruz J and Bachtold A 2016 Force sensitivity of multilayer graphene optomechanical devices *Nat. Commun.* 7 12496
- [26] Eichler A, Moser J, Chaste J, Zdrojek M, Wilson-Rae I and Bachtold A 2011 Nonlinear damping in mechanical resonators made from carbon nanotubes and graphene *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 6 339–42
- [27] Samanta C, Yasasvi Gangavarapu P and Naik A 2015 Nonlinear mode coupling and internal resonances in MoS₂ nanoelectromechanical system *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **107** 173110
- [28] Liu C H, Kim I S and Lauhon L J 2015 Optical control of mechanical mode-coupling within a MoS₂ resonator in the strong-coupling regime *Nano Lett.* 15 6727–31
- [29] De Alba R, Massel F, Storch I, Abhilash T, Hui A, McEuen P, Craighead H and Parpia J 2016 Tunable phonon-cavity coupling in graphene membranes *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 11 741–6
- [30] Schwarz C, Pigeau B, de Lépinay L M, Kuhn A G, Kalita D, Bendiab N, Marty L, Bouchiat V and Arcizet O 2016 Deviation from the normal mode expansion in a coupled graphene-nanomechanical system *Phys. Rev. Appl.* 6 064021
- [31] Chen C, Lee S, Deshpande V V, Lee G H, Lekas M, Shepard K and Hone J 2013 Graphene mechanical oscillators with tunable frequency *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 8 923–7
- [32] Prasad P, Arora N and Naik A 2017 Parametric amplification in MoS₂ drum resonator *Nanoscale* 9 18299–304
- [33] Dolleman R J, Houri S, Chandrashekar A, Alijani F, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2018 Opto-thermally excited multimode parametric resonance in graphene membranes *Sci. Rep.* 8 9366
- [34] Güttinger J *et al* 2017 Energy-dependent path of dissipation in nanomechanical resonators *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **12** 631–6
- [35] Keşkekler A, Shoshani O, Lee M, van der Zant H S, Steeneken P G and Alijani F 2021 Tuning nonlinear damping in graphene nanoresonators by parametric–direct internal resonance *Nat. Commun.* **12** 1099
- [36] Sakhaee-Pour A, Ahmadian M and Vafai A 2008
 Applications of single-layered graphene sheets as mass sensors and atomistic dust detectors *Solid State Commun.* 145 168–72
- [37] Atalaya J, Kinaret J M and Isacsson A 2010
 Nanomechanical mass measurement using nonlinear response of a graphene membrane *Europhys. Lett.* 91 48001
- [38] Dolleman R J, Belardinelli P, Houri S, van der Zant H S, Alijani F and Steeneken P G 2019 High-frequency stochastic switching of graphene resonators near room temperature *Nano Lett.* 19 1282–8

- [39] Lee J, Wang Z, He K, Shan J and Feng P X L 2014 Air damping of atomically thin MoS₂ nanomechanical resonators *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **105** 023104
- [40] Rosłoń I et al 2020 High-frequency gas effusion through nanopores in suspended graphene Nat. Commun. 11 6025
- [41] Fasolino A, Los J and Katsnelson M 2007 Intrinsic ripples in graphene Nat. Mater. 6 858–61
- [42] Ahmadpoor F and Sharma P 2017 A perspective on the statistical mechanics of 2D materials *Extreme Mech. Lett.* 14 38–43
- [43] Los J, Fasolino A and Katsnelson M 2017 Mechanics of thermally fluctuating membranes npj 2D Mater. Appl. 1 9
- [44] Ackerman M, Kumar P, Neek-Amal M, Thibado P, Peeters F and Singh S 2016 Anomalous dynamical behavior of freestanding graphene membranes *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 117 126801
- [45] Dolleman R J, Verbiest G J, Blanter Y M, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2020 Nonequilibrium thermodynamics of acoustic phonons in suspended graphene *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2 012058
- [46] Davidovikj D, Slim J J, Cartamil-Bueno S J, van der Zant H S, Steeneken P G and Venstra W J 2016 Visualizing the motion of graphene nanodrums *Nano Lett.* 16 2768–73
- [47] Senturia S D 2001 Microsystem Design (Dordrecht: Kluwer)
- [48] Schmid S, Villanueva L G and Roukes M L 2016 Fundamentals of Nanomechanical Resonators (Berlin: Springer)
- [49] Poot M and van der Zant H S 2012 Mechanical systems in the quantum regime *Phys. Rep.* 511 273–335
- [50] Paillet M, Parret R, Sauvajol J L and Colomban P 2018 Graphene and related 2D materials: an overview of the Raman studies *J. Raman Spectrosc.* 49 8–12
- [51] Castellanos-Gomez A, Singh V, van der Zant H S J and Steele G A 2015 Mechanics of freely-suspended ultrathin layered materials Ann. Phys., Lpz. 527 27–44
- [52] Akinwande D et al 2017 A review on mechanics and mechanical properties of 2D materials—graphene and beyond Extreme Mech. Lett. 13 42–77
- [53] Hu K M, Bo P, Li X Y, Xin Y H, Bai X R, Li L and Zhang W M 2020 Resonant nano-electromechanical systems from 2D materials *Europhys. Lett.* **131** 58001
- [54] Géradin M and Rixen D J 2014 Mechanical Vibrations: Theory and Application to Structural Dynamics (New York: Wiley)
- [55] Steeneken P, Ruigrok J, Kang S, van Beek J, Bontemps J and Koning J 2007 Parameter extraction and support-loss in MEMS resonators *Proc. COMSOL Conf. 2007* p 725
- [56] Amabili M 2008 Nonlinear Vibrations and Stability of Shells and Plates (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press)
- [57] Verbiest G J, Kirchhof J N, Sonntag J, Goldsche M, Khodkov T and Stampfer C 2018 Detecting ultrasound vibrations with graphene resonators *Nano Lett.* 18 5132–7
- [58] Singh V, Shevchuk O, Blanter Y M and Steele G A 2016 Negative nonlinear damping of a multilayer graphene mechanical resonator *Phys. Rev.* B 93 245407
- [59] Ewins D J 2009 Modal Testing: Theory, Practice and Application (New York: Wiley)
- [60] Garcia-Sanchez D, van der Zande A M, Paulo A S, Lassagne B, McEuen P L and Bachtold A 2008 Imaging mechanical vibrations in suspended graphene sheets *Nano Lett.* 8 1399–403
- [61] Zhang X, Makles K, Colombier L, Metten D, Majjad H, Verlot P and Berciaud S 2020 Dynamically-enhanced strain in atomically thin resonators *Nat. Commun.* 11 5526
- [62] Smith A et al 2013 Electromechanical piezoresistive sensing in suspended graphene membranes Nano Lett. 13 3237–42
- [63] Blake P, Hill E W, Castro Neto A H, Novoselov K S, Jiang D, Yang R, Booth T J and Geim A K 2007 Making graphene visible Appl. Phys. Lett. 91 063124
- [64] Singh R, Nicholl R J, Bolotin K I and Ghosh S 2018 Motion transduction with thermo-mechanically squeezed graphene resonator modes *Nano Lett.* 18 6719–24

- [65] Zhou Q and Zettl A 2013 Electrostatic graphene loudspeaker *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **102** 223109
- [66] Grady E, Mastropaolo E, Chen T, Bunting A and Cheung R 2014 Low frequency graphene resonators for acoustic sensing *Microelectron. Eng.* 119 105–8
- [67] Akbari S A, Ghafarinia V, Larsen T, Parmar M M and Villanueva L G 2020 Large suspended monolayer and bilayer graphene membranes with diameter up to 750 μ m *Sci. Rep.* **10** 6426
- [68] Nathanson H C, Newell W E, Wickstrom R A and Davis J R 1967 The resonant gate transistor *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 14 117–33
- [69] Fan X et al 2019 Graphene ribbons with suspended masses as transducers in ultra-small nanoelectromechanical accelerometers Nat. Electron. 2 394–404
- [70] Manzeli S, Dumcenco D, Marega G M and Kis A 2019 Self-sensing, tunable monolayer MoS₂ nanoelectromechanical resonators *Nat. Commun.* 10 4831
- [71] Davidovikj D, Scheepers P H, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2017 Static capacitive pressure sensing using a single graphene drum ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 43205–10
- [72] Herfst R W, Steeneken P G, Tiggelman M P J, Stulemeijer J and Schmitz J 2012 Fast RF-CV characterization through high-speed 1-port S-parameter measurements *IEEE Trans. Semicond. Manuf.* 25 310–16
- [73] Šiškins M *et al* 2020 Sensitive capacitive pressure sensors based on graphene membrane arrays *Microsyst. Nanoeng.* 6 102
- [74] Berger C, Phillips R, Centeno A, Zurutuza A and Vijayaraghavan A 2017 Capacitive pressure sensing with suspended graphene-polymer heterostructure membranes *Nanoscale* 9 17439–49
- [75] Xu Y, Chen C, Deshpande V V, DiRenno F A, Gondarenko A, Heinz D B, Liu S, Kim P and Hone J 2010 Radio frequency electrical transduction of graphene mechanical resonators *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **97** 243111
- [76] Sazonova V A 2006 A tunable carbon nanotube resonator PhD Thesis Cornell University
- [77] Sazonova V, Yaish Y, Üstünel H, Roundy D, Arias T A and McEuen P L 2004 A tunable carbon nanotube electromechanical oscillator *Nature* 431 284–7
- [78] Knobel R G and Cleland A N 2003 Nanometre-scale displacement sensing using a single electron transistor *Nature* 424 291–3
- [79] Bargatin I, Myers E, Arlett J, Gudlewski B and Roukes M 2005 Sensitive detection of nanomechanical motion using piezoresistive signal downmixing *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 86 133109
- [80] Verbiest G, Xu D, Goldsche M, Khodkov T, Barzanjeh S, Von Den Driesch N, Buca D and Stampfer C 2016 Tunable mechanical coupling between driven microelectromechanical resonators *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 109 143507
- [81] Rosenblatt S, Lin H, Sazonova V, Tiwari S and McEuen P L 2005 Mixing at 50 GHz using a single-walled carbon nanotube transistor *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 87 153111
- [82] Verbiest G J, Goldsche M, Sonntag J, Khodkov T, von den Driesch N, Buca D and Stampfer C 2021 Tunable coupling of two mechanical resonators by a graphene membrane 2D Mater. 8 035039
- [83] Bothner D, Yanai S, Iniguez-Rabago A, Yuan M, Blanter Y M and Steele G A 2020 Cavity electromechanics with parametric mechanical driving *Nat. Commun.* 11 1589
- [84] Singh V, Bosman S, Schneider B, Blanter Y M, Castellanos-Gomez A and Steele G 2014 Optomechanical coupling between a multilayer graphene mechanical resonator and a superconducting microwave cavity *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 9 820–4
- [85] Norte R A, Moura J P and Gröblacher S 2016 Mechanical resonators for quantum optomechanics experiments at room temperature *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **116** 147202

- [86] Wang Z, Lee J, He K, Shan J and Feng P X L 2014 Embracing structural nonidealities and asymmetries in two-dimensional nanomechanical resonators *Sci. Rep.* 4 3919
- [87] Sajadi B, van Hemert S, Arash B, Belardinelli P, Steeneken P G and Alijani F 2018 Size-and temperature-dependent bending rigidity of graphene using modal analysis *Carbon* 139 334–41
- [88] Hauer B, Doolin C, Beach K and Davis J 2013 A general procedure for thermomechanical calibration of nano/micro-mechanical resonators *Ann. Phys.*, NY 339 181–207
- [89] Steeneken P G, Rijks T G S M, van Beek J T M, Ulenaers M J E, Coster J D and Puers R 2004 Dynamics and squeeze film gas damping of a capacitive RF MEMS switch J. Micromech. Microeng. 15 176
- [90] Rottenberg X, De Wolf I, Nauwelaers B K, De Raedt W and Tilmans H A 2007 Analytical model of the DC actuation of electrostatic MEMS devices with distributed dielectric charging and nonplanar electrodes *J. Microelectromech. Syst.* 16 1243–53
- [91] Chudnovsky E M and Zarzuela R 2016 Stability of suspended graphene under Casimir force *Phys. Rev.* B 94 085424
- [92] Xia J, Chen F, Li J and Tao N 2009 Measurement of the quantum capacitance of graphene *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 4 505–9
- [93] Davidovikj D, Poot M, Cartamil-Bueno S J, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2018 On-chip heaters for tension tuning of graphene nanodrums *Nano Lett.* 18 2852–8
- [94] Al-Mashaal A, Wood G, Torin A, Mastropaolo E, Newton M and Cheung R 2017 Dynamic behavior of ultra large graphene-based membranes using electrothermal transduction *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **111** 243503
- [95] Zanette D H 2018 Energy exchange between coupled mechanical oscillators: linear regimes J. Phys. Commun. 2 095015
- [96] Turner K L, Miller S A, Hartwell P G, MacDonald N C, Strogatz S H and Adams S G 1998 Five parametric resonances in a microelectromechanical system *Nature* 396 149–52
- [97] Zalalutdinov M, Olkhovets A, Zehnder A, Ilic B, Czaplewski D, Craighead H G and Parpia J M 2001 Optically pumped parametric amplification for micromechanical oscillators Appl. Phys. Lett. 78 3142–4
- [98] Aubin K, Zalalutdinov M, Alan T, Reichenbach R B, Rand R, Zehnder A, Parpia J and Craighead H 2004 Limit cycle oscillations in CW laser-driven NEMS J. Microelectromech. Syst. 13 1018–26
- [99] Mathew J P, Patel R N, Borah A, Vijay R and Deshmukh M M 2016 Dynamical strong coupling and parametric amplification of mechanical modes of graphene drums *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 11 747
- [100] Miller J M L, Ansari A, Heinz D B, Chen Y, Flader I B, Shin D D, Villanueva L G and Kenny T W 2018 Effective quality factor tuning mechanisms in micromechanical resonators *Appl. Phys. Rev.* 5 041307
- [101] Steeneken P G, Le Phan K, Goossens M J, Koops G E J, Brom G J A M, van der Avoort C and van Beek J T M 2011 Piezoresistive heat engine and refrigerator *Nat. Phys.* 7 354–9
- [102] van Leeuwen R, Castellanos-Gomez A, Steele G A, van der Zant H S J and Venstra W J 2014 Time-domain response of atomically thin MoS₂ nanomechanical resonators Appl. Phys. Lett. 105 041911
- [103] O'Connell A D et al 2010 Quantum ground state and single-phonon control of a mechanical resonator Nature 464 697–703
- [104] Houri S, Cartamil-Bueno S, Poot M, Steeneken P, van der Zant H and Venstra W 2017 Direct and parametric synchronization of a graphene self-oscillator Appl. Phys. Lett. 110 073103

- [105] Osterberg P M and Senturia S D 1997 M-test: a test chip for MEMS material property measurement using electrostatically actuated test structures J. Microelectromech. Syst. 6 107–18
- [106] Duwel A, Candler R N, Kenny T W and Varghese M 2006 Engineering MEMS resonators with low thermoelastic damping J. Microelectromech. Syst. 15 1437–45
- [107] Bunch J S, Verbridge S S, Alden J S, Van Der Zande A M, Parpia J M, Craighead H G and McEuen P L 2008 Impermeable atomic membranes from graphene sheets *Nano Lett.* 8 2458–62
- [108] Lee J, Wang Z, He K, Yang R, Shan J and Feng P X L 2018 Electrically tunable single-and few-layer MoS₂ nanoelectromechanical systems with broad dynamic range *Sci. Adv.* 4 eaao6653
- [109] Morell N, Reserbat-Plantey A, Tsioutsios I, Schädler K G, Dubin F, Koppens F H and Bachtold A 2016 High quality factor mechanical resonators based on WSe₂ monolayers *Nano Lett.* 16 5102–8
- [110] Singh V, Sengupta S, Solanki H S, Dhall R, Allain A, Dhara S, Pant P and Deshmukh M M 2010 Probing thermal expansion of graphene and modal dispersion at low-temperature using graphene nanoelectromechanical systems resonators *Nanotechnology* 21 165204
- [111] Song X, Oksanen M, Sillanpää M A, Craighead H, Parpia J and Hakonen P J 2012 Stamp transferred suspended graphene mechanical resonators for radio frequency electrical readout *Nano Lett.* 12 198–202
- [112] Šiškins M, Lee M, Alijani F, van Blankenstein M R, Davidovikj D, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2019 Highly anisotropic mechanical and optical properties of 2D layered As₂S₃ membranes ACS Nano 13 10845–51
- [113] Colangelo F, Pingue P, Mišeikis V, Coletti C, Beltram F and Roddaro S 2019 Mapping the mechanical properties of a graphene drum at the nanoscale 2D Mater.
 6 025005
- [114] Nicholl R J T, Lavrik N V, Vlassiouk I, Srijanto B R and Bolotin K I 2017 Hidden area and mechanical nonlinearities in freestanding graphene *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 118 266101
- [115] Sonntag J, Goldsche M, Khodkov T, Verbiest G, Reichardt S, von den Driesch N, Buca D and Stampfer C 2019 Engineering tunable strain fields in suspended graphene by microelectromechanical systems *Eurosensors* XXXIII pp 266–9
- [116] Wang Z, Jia H, Zheng X Q, Yang R, Ye G, Chen X and Feng P X L 2016 Resolving and tuning mechanical anisotropy in black phosphorus via nanomechanical multimode resonance spectromicroscopy *Nano Lett.* 16 5394–400
- [117] Xie Y, Lee J, Wang Y and Feng P X L 2020 Straining and tuning atomic layer nanoelectromechanical resonators via comb-drive MEMS actuators *Adv. Mater. Technol.* 6 2000794
- [118] Nicholl R J, Conley H J, Lavrik N V, Vlassiouk I, Puzyrev Y S, Sreenivas V P, Pantelides S T and Bolotin K I 2015 The effect of intrinsic crumpling on the mechanics of free-standing graphene Nat. Commun. 6 8789
- [119] Ye F, Lee J and Feng P X L 2018 Electrothermally tunable graphene resonators operating at very high temperature up to 1200 K Nano Lett. 18 1678–85
- [120] van der Zande A M *et al* 2010 Large-scale arrays of single-layer graphene resonators *Nano Lett.* 10 4869–73
- [121] van Leeuwen R, Castellanos-Gomez A, Steele G, van der Zant H and Venstra W 2014 Time-domain response of atomically thin MoS₂ nanomechanical resonators *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **105** 041911
- [122] Barnard A W, Sazonova V, van der Zande A M and McEuen P L 2012 Fluctuation broadening in carbon nanotube resonators *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.* **109** 19093–6
- [123] Verbridge S S, Parpia J M, Reichenbach R B, Bellan L M and Craighead H 2006 High quality factor resonance at

room temperature with nanostrings under high tensile stress J. Appl. Phys. 99 124304

- [124] Huttel A K, Steele G A, Witkamp B, Poot M, Kouwenhoven L P and van der Zant H S 2009 Carbon nanotubes as ultrahigh quality factor mechanical resonators *Nano Lett.* 9 2547–52
- [125] Matis B R, Houston B H and Baldwin J W 2017 Energy dissipation pathways in few-layer MoS₂ nanoelectromechanical systems Sci. Rep. 7 5656
- [126] Cartamil-Bueno S J et al 2015 High-quality-factor tantalum oxide nanomechanical resonators by laser oxidation of TaSe₂ Nano Res. 8 2842–9
- [127] Šiškins M, Lee M, Mañas-Valero S, Coronado E, Blanter Y M, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2020 Magnetic and electronic phase transitions probed by nanomechanical resonators *Nat. Commun.* 11 2698
- [128] Zheng X Q, Lee J and Feng P X L 2017 Hexagonal boron nitride nanomechanical resonators with spatially visualized motion *Microsyst. Nanoeng.* 3 17038
- [129] Cartamil-Bueno S J, Cavalieri M, Wang R, Houri S, Hofmann S and van der Zant H S 2017 Mechanical characterization and cleaning of CVD single-layer h-BN resonators npj 2D Mater. Appl. 1 16
- [130] Wang Z, Jia H, Zheng X, Yang R, Wang Z, Ye G, Chen X, Shan J and Feng P X L 2015 Black phosphorus nanoelectromechanical resonators vibrating at very high frequencies *Nanoscale* 7 877–84
- [131] López-Cabrelles J *et al* 2018 Isoreticular two-dimensional magnetic coordination polymers prepared through pre-synthetic ligand functionalization *Nat. Chem.* 10 1001–7
- [132] Davidovikj D et al 2020 Ultrathin complex oxide nanomechanical resonators Commun. Phys. 3 163
- [133] Seoanez C, Guinea F and Neto A C 2007 Dissipation in graphene and nanotube resonators *Phys. Rev. B* 76 125427
- [134] Barton R A, Ilic B, Van Der Zande A M, Whitney W S, McEuen P L, Parpia J M and Craighead H G 2011 High, size-dependent quality factor in an array of graphene mechanical resonators *Nano Lett.* 11 1232–6
- [135] Ghadimi A H, Fedorov S A, Engelsen N J, Bereyhi M J, Schilling R, Wilson D J and Kippenberg T J 2018 Elastic strain engineering for ultralow mechanical dissipation *Science* 360 764–8
- [136] Zalalutdinov M K, Robinson J T, Junkermeier C E, Culbertson J C, Reinecke T L, Stine R, Sheehan P E, Houston B H and Snow E S 2012 Engineering graphene mechanical systems *Nano Lett.* 12 4212–18
- [137] Kramer E, van Dorp J, van Leeuwen R and Venstra W 2015 Strain-dependent damping in nanomechanical resonators from thin MoS₂ crystals *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **107** 091903
- [138] Unterreithmeier Q P, Faust T and Kotthaus J P 2010
 Damping of nanomechanical resonators *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 105 027205
- [139] Nowick A S and Berry B S 1972 Anelastic Relaxation in Crystalline Solids (Amsterdam: Elsevier) (https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-12-522650-9.X5001-0)
- [140] Zener C 1937 Internal friction in solids. I. Theory of internal friction in reeds *Phys. Rev.* 52 230–5
- [141] Jiang J W, Park H S and Rabczuk T 2014 MoS₂ nanoresonators: intrinsically better than graphene? *Nanoscale* 6 3618–25
- [142] Dolleman R J, Blanter Y M, van der Zant H S, Steeneken P G and Verbiest G J 2020 Phonon scattering at kinks in suspended graphene *Phys. Rev.* B 101 115411
- [143] Midtvedt D, Croy A, Isacsson A, Qi Z and Park H S 2014 Fermi-pasta-ulam physics with nanomechanical graphene resonators: intrinsic relaxation and thermalization from flexural mode coupling *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** 145503
- [144] Miller D and Alemán B 2017 Shape tailoring to enhance and tune the properties of graphene nanomechanical resonators 2D Mater. 4 025101
- [145] Gammaitoni L, Hänggi P, Jung P and Marchesoni F 1998 Stochastic resonance *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 70 223

- [146] Venstra W J, Westra H J and van der Zant H S 2013
 Stochastic switching of cantilever motion Nat. Commun. 4 2624
- [147] Lee M, Davidovikj D, Sajadi B, Šiškins M, Alijani F, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2019 Sealing graphene nanodrums *Nano Lett.* 19 5313–18
- [148] Eichler A, Moser J, Dykman M and Bachtold A 2013 Symmetry breaking in a mechanical resonator made from a carbon nanotube *Nat. Commun.* 4 2843
- [149] Samanta C, Arora N and Naik A 2018 Tuning of geometric nonlinearity in ultrathin nanoelectromechanical systems *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **113** 113101
- [150] Nayfeh A H and Balachandran B 2008 Applied Nonlinear Dynamics: Analytical, Computational and Experimental Methods (New York: Wiley)
- [151] Doedel E, Champneys A, Fairgrieve T, Kuznetsov Y A, Sandstede B and Wang X 1997 Continuation and bifurcation software for ordinary differential equations *FTP from pub/doedel/auto*
- [152] Dhooge A, Govaerts W and Kuznetsov Y A 2003 MATCONT: a MATLAB package for numerical bifurcation analysis of ODEs ACM Trans. Math. Softw. 29 141–64
- [153] Jia Y, Du S and Seshia A A 2016 Twenty-eight orders of parametric resonance in a microelectromechanical device for multi-band vibration energy harvesting *Sci. Rep.* 6 30167
- [154] Nayfeh A H and Mook D T 2008 Nonlinear Oscillations (New York: Wiley)
- [155] Rugar D and Grütter P 1991 Mechanical parametric amplification and thermomechanical noise squeezing *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 67 699
- [156] Westra H J R, Poot M, van der Zant H S J and Venstra W J 2010 Nonlinear modal interactions in clamped-clamped mechanical resonators *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105** 117205
- [157] Muravyov A A and Rizzi S A 2003 Determination of nonlinear stiffness with application to random vibration of geometrically nonlinear structures *Comput. Struct.* 81 1513–23
- [158] Singh R, Sarkar A, Guria C, Nicholl R J, Chakraborty S, Bolotin K I and Ghosh S 2020 Giant tunable mechanical nonlinearity in graphene-silicon nitride hybrid resonator *Nano Lett.* 20 4659–66
- [159] van der Avoort C, van der Hout R, Bontemps J J M, Steeneken P G, Phan K L, Fey R H B, Hulshof J and van Beek J T M 2010 Amplitude saturation of MEMS resonators explained by autoparametric resonance J. Micromech. Microeng. 20 105012
- [160] Nathamgari S S P, Dong S, Medina L, Moldovan N, Rosenmann D, Divan R, Lopez D, Lauhon L J and Espinosa H D 2019 Nonlinear mode coupling and one-to-one internal resonances in a monolayer WS₂ nanoresonator *Nano Lett.* **19** 4052–9
- [161] Dauxois T, Peyrard M and Ruffo S 2005 The Fermi–Pasta–Ulam 'numerical experiment': history and pedagogical perspectives *Eur. J. Phys.* 26 S3
- [162] Luo G, Zhang Z Z, Deng G W, Li H O, Cao G, Xiao M, Guo G C, Tian L and Guo G P 2018 Strong indirect coupling between graphene-based mechanical resonators via a phonon cavity *Nat. Commun.* 9 383
- [163] Zhang Z Z et al 2020 Coherent phonon dynamics in spatially separated graphene mechanical resonators Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. 117 5582–7
- [164] Šiškins M, Sokolovskaya E, Lee M, Mañas-Valero S, Davidovikj D, van der Zant H S J and Steeneken P G 2021 Tunable strong coupling of mechanical resonance between spatially separated FePS₃ nanodrums (arXiv:2107.01262)
- [165] Villanueva L, Karabalin R, Matheny M, Chi D, Sader J and Roukes M 2013 Nonlinearity in nanomechanical cantilevers *Phys. Rev.* B 87 024304
- [166] Dash A, Samanta C, Ranganath P, Selvaraja S and Naik A 2019 Optical gradient force for tuning, actuation and manipulation of nonlinearity in graphene nanomechanical resonator J. Opt. 21 065803

- [167] Parmar M M, Gangavarapu P Y and Naik A 2015 Dynamic range tuning of graphene nanoresonators *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 107 113108
- [168] Amabili M 2019 Derivation of nonlinear damping from viscoelasticity in case of nonlinear vibrations *Nonlinear Dyn.* 97 1785–97
- [169] Croy A, Midtvedt D, Isacsson A and Kinaret J M 2012 Nonlinear damping in graphene resonators *Phys. Rev.* B 86 235435
- [170] Atalaya J, Kenny T W, Roukes M and Dykman M 2016 Nonlinear damping and dephasing in nanomechanical systems Phys. Rev. B 94 195440
- [171] Shoshani O, Shaw S W and Dykman M I 2017 Anomalous decay of nanomechanical modes going through nonlinear resonance *Sci. Rep.* 7 18091
- [172] Amabili M 2016 Nonlinear vibrations of viscoelastic rectangular plates J. Sound Vib. 362 142–56
- [173] Berman G and Izrailev F 2005 The Fermi–Pasta–Ulam problem: fifty years of progress Chaos 15 015104
- [174] Dolleman R J, Lloyd D, Lee M, Bunch J S, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2018 Transient thermal characterization of suspended monolayer MoS₂ *Phys. Rev. Mater.* 2 114008
- [175] Vallabhaneni A K, Singh D, Bao H, Murthy J and Ruan X 2016 Reliability of raman measurements of thermal conductivity of single-layer graphene due to selective electron-phonon coupling: a first-principles study *Phys. Rev.* B 93 125432
- [176] Morell N et al 2019 Optomechanical measurement of thermal transport in two-dimensional MoSe₂ lattices Nano Lett. 19 3143–50
- [177] Islam A, van den Akker A and Feng P X L 2018 Anisotropic thermal conductivity of suspended black phosphorus probed by opto-thermomechanical resonance spectromicroscopy *Nano Lett.* 18 7683–91
- [178] Jiang S, Xie H, Shan J and Mak K F 2020 Exchange magnetostriction in two-dimensional antiferromagnets *Nat. Mater.* 19 1295–9
- [179] Lee M, Šiškins M, Mañas-Valero S, Coronado E, Steeneken P G and van der Zant H S 2021 Study of charge density waves in suspended 2H-TaS₂ and 2H-TaSe₂ by nanomechanical resonance Appl. Phys. Lett. 118 193105
- [180] Li H K, Fong K Y, Zhu H, Li Q, Wang S, Yang S, Wang Y and Zhang X 2019 Valley optomechanics in a monolayer semiconductor *Nat. Photon.* 13 397–401

- [181] Will M, Hamer M, Muller M, Noury A, Weber P, Bachtold A, Gorbachev R, Stampfer C and Guttinger J 2017 High quality factor graphene-based two-dimensional heterostructure mechanical resonator *Nano Lett.* 17 5950–5
- [182] Chen C, Deshpande V V, Koshino M, Lee S, Gondarenko A, MacDonald A H, Kim P and Hone J 2016 Modulation of mechanical resonance by chemical potential oscillation in graphene Nat. Phys. 12 240–4
- [183] Hu K M, Bo P, Li X Y, Xin Y H, Bai X R, Ti L and Zhang W M 2020 Resonant nano-electromechanical systems from 2D materials *Europhys. Lett.* 131 58001
- [184] Davidovikj D, Bouwmeester D, van der Zant H S J and Steeneken P G 2018 Graphene gas pumps 2018 IEEE Micro Electro Mechanical Systems (MEMS) pp 628–31
- [185] Davidovikj D, Bouwmeester D, van der Zant H S and Steeneken P G 2018 Graphene gas pumps 2D Mater.
 5 031009
- [186] LaHaye M D, Buu O, Camarota B and Schwab K C 2004 Approaching the quantum limit of a nanomechanical resonator *Science* 304 74–7
- [187] Vinci R P and Vlassak J J 1996 Mechanical behavior of thin films Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci. 26 431–62
- [188] Goldsche M et al 2018 Tailoring mechanically tunable strain fields in graphene Nano Lett. 18 1707–13
- [189] Dolleman R J 2018 Dynamics of interacting graphene membranes PhD Thesis Delft University of Technology the Netherlands
- [190] Lindahl N, Midtvedt D, Svensson J, Nerushev O A, Lindvall N, Isacsson A and Campbell E E 2012
 Determination of the bending rigidity of graphene via electrostatic actuation of buckled membranes *Nano Lett.* 12 3526–31
- [191] Roldán R, Fasolino A, Zakharchenko K V and Katsnelson M I 2011 Suppression of anharmonicities in crystalline membranes by external strain *Phys. Rev.* B 83 174104
- [192] Dolleman R J 2014 Graphene based pressure sensors Master's Thesis Delft University of Technology the Netherlands
- [193] Wah T 1962 Vibration of circular plates J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 34 275–81
- [194] Metzger C, Favero I, Ortlieb A and Karrai K 2008 Optical self cooling of a deformable Fabry–Perot cavity in the classical limit *Phys. Rev.* B 78 035309